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The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2022. 

 

Principal business activities 

 

Utmost Holdings Ireland Limited ('the Company' or ‘UHIL’), is a wholly owned subsidiary of Utmost 

International Group Holdings Limited (‘UIGHL’) a UK incorporated company specialising in the acquisition 

of life assurance businesses. Its principal business is that of a holding company. The consolidated 

accounts of UHIL include all subsidiaries listed in note 2 (‘the Group’). 

 

Business review and Future Developments 

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the financial year and the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022 are set out on pages 17 and 18. Group Loss 

attributable to shareholders for the financial year to 31 December 2022 amounted to €4.3m (2021: Profit 

€24.4m).  

 

Assets under administration (‘AUA’) by the Group fell slightly from €25.3bn in 2021 to €23.5bn by 31 

December 2022.  

 

The regulatory solvency position remains satisfactory as at 31 December 2022. 

Solvency II economic Value (‘SII EV’) moved from €527.7 (restated) in 2021 to €528.9 in 2022. SII EV 

represents the group view of the aggregate value of the business and is calculated by adding the SII EV 

of the insurance entities within the Group and the net assets of the non- insurance entities within the 

Group.  

 

For the year-ended 31 December 2022, a voluntary accounting policy change was made to the 

valuation of investment in subsidiaries. The accounting policy has changed from fair value to cost less 

impairment. The comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2021 was restated. On the 

Statement of Financial Position – Company only – this has resulted in a decrease to “Investment in 

subsidiaries” and a corresponding decrease to “Retained earnings”. In the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income this has resulted in a decrease in the “Fair value movement in investment in subsidiaries”. Please 

see note 1.2 for more information on the restatement of comparative information. 

 

On 24th April 2022, the company received a €50m dividend from Utmost Pan Europe Dac (‘UPE’). The 

proceeds of this dividend were used to repay capital and interest on the loan the Company has with 

Utmost Group Holdings International Limited.  

On the 20th June 2022, UIG Holdings ( No1) Limited, transferred its entire holding in the Company and 

reassigned the remaining loan to Utmost International Group Holdings Limited ( UIGHL).  

A life assurance book of Dutch policies was transferred from Utmost Worldwide (‘UW’) into UPE with effect 

from 30th September 2022. The book is fully reinsured to UW. 

On the 20th December 2022 Harcourt Life Corporation dac, a subsidiary of the Company paid a dividend 

of €628,000 to UPE. 

An interim foreseeable dividend of €22.5m is due to be paid to the Company by UPE in April 2023 subject 

to the required approvals. The interim foreseeable dividend of €22,500,000 (2021: paid €50,000,000) 

represents a dividend per share of €1.20 (2021: €2.67).  
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Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Group acknowledge that careful and considered assessment of business performance coupled with 

active management and monitoring liquidity, counterparties and solvency coverage is key.  This requires 

active and on-going management by the business and control functions.   

The Group remains very well capitalised with significant solvency coverage and the shareholder assets 

are of a high quality.  The Group has no concerns in terms of its ability to continue to pay liabilities as they 

fall due and has high level of quality liquid assets.   

The Group actively manages its risk profile through a process of risk management, which is embedded 

through a framework of policies, procedures, and internal controls. Compliance with regulation, legal 

and ethical standards is a high priority for the Group. The principal risks faced by the Group are 

operational risk, Integration risk, taxation risk, strategic risk, governance and regulatory compliance risk, 

market risk, insurance risk and outsourcing risk.  

 

In addition, the Group faces risks arising from its business plan in seeking to identify and execute 

acquisition opportunities. Such activity exposes the Group to additional transactional risks around a 

failure of due diligence and operational risks around the business architecture of the Group (and how it 

manages the integration and restructuring) and management stretch. Information and exposure on the 

main risks and uncertainties that the Group faces and how these are managed is outlined in note 27 to 

the financial statements. 

 

 

Going Concern 

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group will continue in operational 

existence for twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements (‘the period of 

assessment’) and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. In making this 

assessment, the directors considered the following key areas; 

 Solvency 

 Liquidity & Cash flow Management 

 Asset Quality 

 Counterparty Exposure 

 Insurance & Mortality Risk 

 

In addition, other impacts such as mortality risks and the potential for reinsurers in not honouring their 

financial or operational commitments have also been considered. 

The Group is paying close attention to its solvency positions, through all periods of 2022 and into 2023. 

Liquidity is a critical consideration in these times of uncertainty. The great majority of invested assets held 

are highly liquid. 

The Directors have considered the appropriateness of the going concern basis used in the preparation 

of these financial statements, having regard to the ability of the Company and Group to be able to meet 

its liabilities as and when they fall due, and the adequacy of available assets to meet liabilities.  
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On the basis of the above, the directors have concluded that the Company and Group have no material 

uncertainties which would cast a significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern over the period of assessment. 

We refer to note 1 in the financial statements.  

Dividend 

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of financial year ended 31 December 

2022 (2021: €nil). 

 

Political and Charitable Donations 

The Group did not make any political donations during the financial year (2021: €nil). 

 

Corporate Governance 

Effective corporate governance remains key to the business. The Group has a number of Board 

Committees, including the Audit Committee, the Risk and Compliance Committee, the Investment 

Committee and the Banking Committee. A review of the performance of each of the Committees for 

2022 confirmed that each Committee performed its duties as outlined within its respective terms of 

reference.  The Remuneration Committee is a sub committee of Utmost Holdings Ireland Limited (UHIL). 

 

The Corporate Governance Requirements for Insurance Undertakings 2015 (‘the Requirements’), as 

issued by the Central Bank of Ireland (‘CBI’), became effective from 1 January 2016. An annual review is 

completed by the Risk Management Function that UPE is compliant with all obligations as set out in the 

Requirements. 

 

Utmost Bermuda Limited (previously ‘Altraplan Bermuda Limited’), is regulated by the Bermuda Monetary 

Authority. 

The Board of Directors in seeking to apply best practice in Corporate Governance periodically establishes 

committees to help it discharge its responsibilities in respect of the regulated entities. The Directors are 

satisfied that there is sufficient oversight of the Group’s activities through the establishment of audit 

committees and other board sub-committees by its principal subsidiary undertakings, such that 

committees are not also required at the UHIL level. 

The governance structure adopted by the principal regulated subsidiary undertaking (UPE) is as follows: 

Audit Committees:  

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committees monitor the integrity of the entities financial 

statements, the independence of the external auditor and the effectiveness of the system of internal 

controls, reviewing the manner and framework in which management ensures and monitors the 

adequacy of the nature, extent and effectiveness of internal control systems, including accounting 

control systems and thereby maintains an effective overall system of internal control (in overseeing these 

matters, the Committees shall have regard to the activities of the Risk and Compliance Committees).  

Another key objective of the committees is monitoring the activities of Internal Audit and receiving 

regular reports regarding their activities and recommendations.  

Banking Committees: 

Banking Committees were established for the regulated entities to ensure that regular administrative 

matters can be dealt with by the directors without recourse to the Board.  
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Investment Committees: 

The Investment Committees were established to identify, monitor and control the investment activities of 

each business, ensuring that investment performance is reported to the relevant boards of directors as 

required. A key responsibility of the investment committees is to recommend the overall strategic 

investment policy for the business to which it relates.  

Risk Management: 

The Group has a defined structure and process to assist in the identification, assessment and 

management of risk. This structure is supported by three pillars; the Risk Management Department, the 

Risk Advisory Committee and the Risk and Compliance Committees. These structures have been in place 

throughout the year to which these statements apply and up to the date of their approval. 

 

The Risk Management Department, an independent control function, continues to enhance the 

organisation’s risk framework and monitors compliance with the requirements of Solvency II – Pillar II. The 

Risk Management Department continues to develop and drive key risk policy as well as continuously 

monitoring the “risk profile” of the organisation. The Chief Risk Officer continues to have direct and 

unfettered access to the Boards. 

 

The Risk Advisory Committee continues to monitor and assess risk at a senior executive level within the 

organisation. Meeting at least quarterly, it reviews the Company’s key risks, contained in risk registers, and 

ensures that all new and emerging risks are appropriately evaluated and any further actions identified. 

This Committee also reviews and communicates policy matters, as advised by the Risk Management 

Department, to those responsible for managing risks.  

 

The Risk and Compliance Committees are Board Committees and their primary role is to assist the Boards 

in their management of risk and to review the effectiveness of the Risk Management activities of the 

respective companies. The Committees meet at least quarterly and during 2022 they provided an 

oversight and approval role in relation to risk identification and evaluation, risk management and risk 

reporting. This was facilitated through formal reporting from the Chief Risk Officer. The Risk and 

Compliance Committees performed their activities in line with its terms of reference during 2022. 

 

The main risks the Company is exposed to are identified and classified in the Risk Map, approved by the 

Board of Directors, and reviewed at least once a year in order to ensure its adequacy and completeness. 

The main risks and how they are managed are outlined below: 

 

Financial Risks: 

 

The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance assets 

and policyholder liabilities. The insurance companies complete a regular asset liability matching analysis 

to ensure that their assets are matched to their liabilities by line of business and duration. In relation to 

their unit-linked business the insurance companies primarily adopt a matched position between their 

policyholder liabilities and the assets that they hold in respect of these liabilities. Nevertheless, there 

remains financial risk in the form of interest rate risk, equity price risk, currency risk and credit risk as outlined 

below: 

 

Interest rate risk – The Group holds shareholder assets in the form of cash and interest bearing securities 

and, as such, is exposed to interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest rate risk by regular assessments 

and monitoring of its investments by the Investment Committees. The Group is exposed to interest rate 

risk to the extent that adverse interest rate movements impact the value of Unit Linked Assets and 

therefore the management fee income. 
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Equity price risk – The Group is exposed to equity price risk to the extent that adverse movements in the 

value of Unit Linked Assets would reduce the future profitability of the Group through a reduction in 

management fee income. 

 

Currency risk –The Group generally invests in assets denominated in the same currencies as its 

policyholders’ liabilities, which mitigates the foreign currency exchange rate risk. The Group is exposed 

to currency risk to the extent that adverse movements in the value of Unit Linked Assets would reduce 

the future profitability of the Group through a reduction in management fee income. The Company also 

has exposure to currency risk in relation to a GBP loan with UIGHL. 

 

Credit risk – The key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are corporate bonds, government 

bonds, EU supranational bonds, bank deposits, Fund Investments, Money Market Funds, the Italian  

withholding tax asset, the reinsurers' share of insurance liabilities, amounts due from reinsurers in respect 

of claims already paid, amounts due from insurance intermediaries and counterparty risk with respect to 

derivative transactions. 

 

Expense risk - Expense risk is the risk that actual expenses of the Group differ from the levels expected 

and allowed for within the pricing and reserving process. The Group mitigates this risk primarily through 

the annual review of expenses in light of experience and any changes to the market rate of inflation. The 

Group also perform inflation stress scenario analysis through the annual Own Risk and Solvency 

Assessment process and report. 

 

Counterparty risk – The Group is exposed to counterparty default risk arising from investments with 

Counterparties and also the holding of an Italian Withholding Tax Asset. Management ensures that it has 

diversified and managed investments, and actively monitors its counterparty risks on a monthly basis with 

quarterly updates provided to the Risk and Compliance Committee.  

The Group places limits on its exposure by counterparty, by geographical location and by credit rating. 

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an 

annual basis by reviewing their financial strength. 

 

Insurance Risks: 

 

The Group is exposed to life underwriting insurance risk deriving from the Group’s core business activities. 

The Group mitigates this risk primarily through the use of reinsurance agreements both with third party 

reinsurers. The Board completes a review of the Statement of Reinsurance Strategy on an annual basis or 

more frequently if there are material business or regulatory changes that require assessment. 

 

 

Operational Risks: 

 

The Group is exposed to operational risk deriving from the Group’s core business activities which are 

either managed internally or through group and non-group outsourced service providers. The Group 

mitigates this risk through the implementation of the internal control and risk management system 

framework, whose design and structure operates to ensure that business activity complies with the laws 

and regulations in force and that Group processes are efficient and effective and that accounting and 

management information is reliable and complete. The Group has implemented a formal outsourcing 

process which ensures the implementation of appropriate organisational safeguards to monitor the 

performance of outsourcers and sets reporting obligations for critical outsourced activities. 

 

 

Lapse Risk: 

 

The Group closely monitors lapse experience against assumptions and does not have an appetite for 

increases in lapse rates. The Group monitors lapse rates due to regulatory or fiscal change.  
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Other Risks: 

 

Liquidity risk – refers to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet both expected and unexpected 

cash flow requirements efficiently. All assets must be redeemable within approved periods. The Group 

manages liquidity risks through the monitoring of local liquidity ratios and limits. 
 

Reputational Risk - refers to the risk of potential losses due to a reputational deterioration or to a negative 

perception of the Group's image among its customers, counterparties, shareholders and supervisory 

authorities. The Group mitigates this by considering the impact of reputational risk as part of the key 

business decision making processes. 

 
Tax Risk – refers to the risk that the Italian tax asset will not be recoverable or that there is a change in 

regulatory requirements concerning the treatment of the asset for solvency purposes. Following the 

acquisition of UPE, the Group retains an Italian tax asset resulting from the prepayment of exit tax as a 

result of UPE’s decision to become an Italian withholding tax agent in 2012. 

 

Emerging Risk – refers to newly developing or changing risks which are difficult to quantify and which may 

have a significant impact on the Group. Emerging risks are assessed by Risk Management and  

reviewed by the Risk Committee on a quarterly basis. The Group mitigates these risks through investigation 

and monitoring of management actions. 

 

Cyber Risk – refers to any risk of financial loss, disruption or damage to the reputation of the Group from 

failure and breaches of its information technology systems. The Group mitigates these risks through risk 

assessments and the implementation of an appropriate control framework, including but not limited to: 

 Annual business continuity and disaster recovery planning and testing; 

 Bi-annual independent third party testing of the external defences e.g. firewalls; 

 Independent third party review of the internal systems and access controls benchmarked against 

industry best practice;  

 Ongoing internal review and monitoring of technologies which keep technical controls up to 

date; and 

 Ongoing monitoring of regulatory changes and implementation of the required procedures and 

controls including those related to General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”).      

 

Conduct Risk – refers to the risk the Group poses to its customers from its direct interaction with them. The 

Group mitigates these risks through the development of a Conduct Risk Framework, in line with EIOPA’s 

guidelines on Product Oversight and Governance arrangements by insurance undertakings and 

insurance distributors. The Group has developed a framework to ensure that customers are protected 

and that business is conducted in a fair, efficient, ethical and valuable manner. The Group has also 

implemented an oversight team which is responsible for initial due diligence and ongoing monitoring of 

partners.  

 

Concentration Risk – refers to the risk of loss from lack of diversification across multiple jurisdictions, 

products or counterparties. The Group mitigates this risk through ongoing diversification of products 

across multiple jurisdictions and counterparties. 

 

Regulatory Compliance Risk – arises from a failure or inability to comply fully with the laws, regulations 

standards or codes specifically related to entities in the financial services industry. Any non-compliance 

may result in the Group being subject to regulatory sanction and financial losses arising from such 

sanctions. The Group has in place specific personnel tasked with ensuring all aspects of regulation and 

compliance requirements, including customer conduct codes, are fully complied with. The Group has 

no appetite or tolerance for regulatory breaches. 

 

 



 Utmost Holdings Ireland Limited 

 

Directors’ report  

for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 

 

9 
 

Climate Risk - The decarbonisation of the global economy as it transitions towards net zero poses a 

number of risks and opportunities to the Group. The Group is exposed to physical climate impacts, low 

carbon transition risks and potential opportunities. Climate risk can arise from:  

 Physical risk: Disruptions and damage to operations due to extreme weather events and chronic 

changes including temperature rises increase energy consumption and impact mortality and 

morbidity. 

 Transition risk: The transition to a net zero economy presents financial risks which can arise from a 

range of factors, including changes in policy, regulation, technology and customer sentiment. 

Climate-related metrics are being used to understand, and assess the Group’s exposure to these 

risks and potential impacts on asset valuations. 

 Liability risk: Climate-related liability risks may arise directly or indirectly from the actions taken by 

firms in relation to climate change. These may crystallise where a perceived lack of action or lack 

of appropriate disclosures result in claims or legal action from external stakeholders. These risks will 

crystallise in full over a longer-term time horizon. The Group treats these risks as cross-cutting risks 

given they have the potential to manifest through a number of principal risk types within the 

Group’s ERM Framework. 

Mitigation: A Climate Risk Framework has been adopted by the Group to embed climate risk 

considerations in day-to-day processes. The Board oversees the delivery of the Sustainability Strategy, a 

key element of which is the management of climate-related risk and opportunities. The Group’s 

approach to climate change is set out in its Corporate Social Responsibility policy. 

 

 

Sustainability Strategy 

 

The Group’s mission is to secure our clients’ financial futures through the delivery of life and pension 

solutions, which result in greater prosperity for present and future generations. 

 

The Group is guided by its mission and its values to behave and invest sustainably. Our organisation exists 

to support current and future generations to prosper. It is imperative we consider the impact of our 

activities over the long-term not just for our customers, colleagues, and capital providers, but for future 

generations. 

 

Sustainability must be integrated across our business in order for us to make a positive difference. The 

formalisation of our sustainability strategy provides firm foundations. The formalisation of our climate 

change strategy, including the development of processes to measure, manage and reduce our 

contribution to climate change as an investor and as a business, was a further key development. We 

recognise this is a fast-moving area which requires an evolving response.  

Our Sustainability Strategy is framed along four pillars: Environmental Impact, Customer Outcomes, 

Responsible Investment and Community Engagement. The Strategy aims to integrate sustainability across 

our business to support the Group in making a positive difference.  

 

In 2022 the Group has focused on embedding a sustainability focus in its business-as-usual processes. A 

key development was the formalisation of the Climate Risk Framework. The Group has developed its 

sustainability reporting, both through the provision of regular Management Information to the Board and 

through the development of our Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) at an overall 

group level.  

 

 

 

 

 



 Utmost Holdings Ireland Limited 

 

Directors’ report  

for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 

 

10 
 

Our Sustainability Commitments 

Customer Outcomes  

 To provide products which are suitable for customers across each socio-economic group 

 To continually develop our proposition in order to provide suitable outcomes to our customers 

 To provide excellent customer service and communicates openly and honestly with customers  

 To work to provide additional sustainable investment options to our customers 

 To support customers with the provision of data which helps them understand the ESG 

characteristics of their investments.  

 

Environmental Impact 

 The Utmost Group has fully embedded climate risk into our business and risk management 

processes . 

 To reduce and minimise the environmental impact of our operations. 

 To maintain a net zero carbon status in our operations and reduce our initial operational carbon 

emissions. 

 To reduce the environmental impact of our supply chain, looking to work with select organisations 

which operate in line with our corporate philosophy and help us deliver our long-term vision. 

 

Responsible Investments 

 Increase the proportion of our investments in sustainable assets. 

 Provide increased sustainable investment options to our customers. 

 Align our investment portfolio with the beliefs of our stakeholders on sustainability. 

 Net Zero by 2050 with a 50% reduction by 2030 aligned with a maximum temperature rise of 1.5°C 

above pre-industrial levels as outlined in the Paris Agreement. 

 The Utmost Group is a signatory to the UN Principles for Responsible Investment. 

 Utmost is a supporter of the Financial Stability Board’s Task Force on Climate-related Financial 

Disclosures (TCFD) and endorses its recommendations. Committed to regular and transparent 

reporting on our sustainability activities. 

 

Community Engagement  

 To create an environment where our people can achieve their aspirations and reach their full 

potential. 

 To increase diverse representation and strengthen our leadership focus on diversity and inclusion.  

 To participate in our local communities.  

 

 

Brexit 

 

UPE  products are made available in the UK in compliance with Art 10 of the Financial Promotions Order. 

Art 10 requires financial promotions to be approved by an FCA authorised entity, and that the insurer is 

either based in the EEA or authorised in an approved jurisdiction. UPE’s financial promotions are 

approved by Utmost Limited, which is FCA authorised, and UPE is authorised in jurisdictions approved 

under Art 10.  
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Compliance and Actuarial  

 

Both the Compliance and Actuarial Departments, as independent control functions within the Group, 

reported to the Board on ongoing activities throughout 2022.  

 

The Compliance function has continued to develop and execute the Compliance Plan.  

The Head of Actuarial Function completed the year end 2022 Reporting Actuary Report, and the 

Actuarial Function Report for the year ended 31 December 2022. 

 

No material issues were raised by the Compliance and Actuarial functions during the period to which 

these financial statements relate. 

 

 

 

Internal Audit  

 

The Internal Audit function is the third line of defence within the Group and is responsible for performing 

an independent evaluation of the effectiveness of both the internal control and risk management 

systems, including the adequacy of the controls in place within each business process.  

 

The Internal Audit function assists the Board, through the Audit Committee (a Committee of the Board), 

in assessing its role in relation to internal control, risk management and governance responsibilities. 

 

The Head of Internal Audit has direct and unfettered access to the Boards and to the Chairman of the 

Audit Committees. The Head of Internal Audit formally reports to the Audit Committees, which meet on 

a quarterly basis. The primary role of the Audit Committees is assisting the Boards in ensuring that there is 

an adequate system of controls in place for financial reporting and internal control. 

 

A risk-based internal audit plan for 2022, which aimed to provide assurance over the key business 

processes as well as financial and operational risks, was approved by the Audit Committee and 

implemented satisfactorily throughout the year. A report, summarising audit activity and the results of 

each audit undertaken, was provided to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 

Investment Committee: 

The Investment Committees are responsible for identifying, monitoring, reporting, and controlling 

investment activities. Another key responsibility is the review of quarterly performance of all funds and 

specifically any variances from relevant benchmarks; specific counterparty exposure(s); funds liquidity 

and operational issues concerning the management and administration of the individual entity’s assets. 

 

Banking Committee 

The Banking Committee is responsible for the opening, closure and change in purpose of all Master 

Custodian and Corporate bank accounts. The Committee is also responsible for the review and approval 

of appointments to the authorised signatory list and their levels of authorisation and approval. 
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Directors and secretary and their interests in shares and debentures of the Company 

The Directors who held office during the year under review and until the date of this report are shown 

below. Except where indicated, they served for the entire financial year ended 31 December 2022. 

William Finn*   

Ian Maidens    

Henry O’Sullivan   

Paul Thompson   

Tim Madigan*   

Paul Gillett ( resigned 31 March 2022)   

Karl Moore (appointed 1 April 2022)   

Michael Davies*   

 

* Independent non-executive director 

Karl Moore was appointed to the Board on 01 April 2022. Paul Gillett resigned from the Board on the 31 

March 2022.  

Damien Mulholland is the Company Secretary.  

The Directors and Secretary had no direct interests in the shares or debentures of the Company during 

the year. Two Directors Paul Thompson and Ian Maidens have an equity interest in certain Group 

entities. Details of these entities are disclosed in note 32 to the accounts. 

Transactions involving Directors 

There were no transactions involving directors during 2022 (2021: none). 

 

Parent company 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Utmost Topco Limited. The Company’s immediate parent 

is Utmost International Group Holdings Limited.  

 

Accounting records 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting records, as outlined in section 281 

to Section 285 of the Companies Act, 2014, are kept by the Company. The following steps are taken to 

ensure compliance with the Act: 

 

 Directors have appointed professionally qualified accounting personnel with appropriate 

expertise and have provided adequate resources to the finance function. 

 A professionally qualified internal audit team are in place and perform an annual audit 

programme in agreement with management. 

The accounting records are kept at the Company's registered office at Ashford House, 18-23 Tara Street, 

Dublin 2. 
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable Irish law and regulations. 

 

Irish Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under 

the law, the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.   

 

Under Company law, the Directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 

they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the Company as at the 

financial year end date and of the profit or loss of the Company for the financial year and otherwise 

comply with the Companies Act 2014. 

 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;  

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

 state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable 

accounting standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any 

material departure from those standards; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Company will continue in business. 

 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps or causes to be kept adequate 

accounting records which correctly explain and record the transactions of the Company, enable at any 

time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company to be determined with 

reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial statements and Directors’ report comply 

with the Companies Act 2014 and IFRS and enable the financial statements to be audited. They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

 

 

Directors’ Compliance Statement 

The Directors, in accordance with Section 225(2) of the Companies Act 2014 (the “Act”), acknowledge 

that they are responsible for securing the Company’s compliance with its “relevant obligations” (as such 

term is defined in Section 225 (1) of the Act). The Directors confirm that: 

a) a compliance policy statement was drawn up setting out the Company’s policies (that, in their 

opinion, are appropriate to the Company) in respect of the Company’s compliance with its 

relevant obligations; 

b) appropriate arrangements or structures were put in place that, in their opinion, are designed to 

secure material compliance with the Company’s relevant obligations; and 

c) a review was conducted, during the financial year, of those arrangements or structures. 

 

Statement of relevant audit information 

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of the report confirms that: 

 

(a) as far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's 

auditors are unaware; and 

 

(b) the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make 

himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are 

aware of that information. 

 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 330 of 

the Companies Act 2014. 





Independent auditors' report to the members of Utmost 
Holdings Ireland Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion, Utmost Holdings Ireland Limited's consolidated financial statements and company financial 
statements (the "financial statements"): 

• give a true and fair view of the group's and the company's assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 

December 2022 and of the group's loss, the company's profit and the group's and the company's cash flows 
for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as 
adopted by the European Union; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual report and consolidated financial statements 
(the "Annual Report"), which comprise: 

• the consolidated and company Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022; 

• the consolidated and company Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended; 
• the consolidated and company Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; 
• the consolidated and company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and 
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) ("ISAs (Ireland)") and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA's Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's or the company's ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the 
group's or the company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 
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Reporting on other information 

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual report and consolidated financial statements 
other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other 
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do 
not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material 
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a 
material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 
2014 have been included. 

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) 
and the Companies Act 2014 require us to also report certain opinions and matters as described below: 

• In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Directors' 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared 
in accordance with the applicable legal requirements. 

• Based on our knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors' Report. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial  statements 

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 13, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. 

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors' i'esponsibilities for the audit oJ the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using 
data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than 
testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk 
characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population 
from which the sample is selected. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA website 
at: 

https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2,8go13-1cf648b-qb8f-aq82o2dcqc3a/Descriptiofl of auditors 
resoonsibilities for audit.odf 

This description forms part of our auditors' report. 
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Use oft/us report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in 
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

Other required reporting 

Companies Act 2014 opinions on other matters 

• We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our 
audit. 

• In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the company financial 
statements to be readily and properly audited. 

• The Company Statement of Financial Position is in agreement with the accounting records. 

Other exception reporting 

Directors' remuneration cind transactions 

Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors' 
remuneration and transactions specified by sections 305 to 312 of that Act have not been made. We have no 
exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Padraig Os orne 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
Dublin 

30 March 2023 
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  Consolidated  Company 

      Restated 

 31 Dec 22  31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

Notes € ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

Revenue       

Net premiums earned  30,874 30,631  - - 

Fees and commission receivable 3 116,075 84,161  - - 

Dividends received  - -  50,000 - 

Movement in value of subsidiaries 10 - -  (2,313) 1,495 

Other operating income 5 3,856 3,569  - 62 

  150,805 118,361  47,687 1,557 

       Investment return 4 (3,246,408) 1,767,558  4,138 (7,217) 

Net policyholder claims and benefits incurred       

Policyholder claims   (34,621) (30,982)  - - 

Change in investment contract liabilities  3,223,691 (1,739,874)  - - 

Change in insurance contract liabilities  28,059 552  - - 

Transfer to unallocated surplus  10,421 (6,374)  - - 

       

  3,227,550 (1,776,678)  - - 

Expenses       

Amortisation of AVIF  (41,058) (17,812)  - - 

Fee and Commission expenses  (25,791) (26,506)  (10) - 

Administrative expenses 6 (57,562) (52,212)  (216) (99) 

  (124,411) (96,530)  (226) (99) 

Gain arising on bargain purchases  - 25,059  - - 

       
Profit / (Loss) for the financial year before interest 

and tax  

7,536 37,770  51,599 (5,759) 

       
Interest payable  (6,611) (7,628)  (4,606) (6,326) 

Taxation 7 (5,191) (5,728)  46 - 

 (Loss) / Profit for the financial year after tax  (4,266) 24,414  47,039 (12,085) 

       
Other comprehensive income        

Foreign exchange rate movements  142 101  - - 

Total comprehensive (Loss) / Profit for the 

financial year  

 

(4,124) 24,515  47,039 (12,085) 
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Consolidated 
 

 

Called up 

Share 

Capital and 

Capital 

Contribution 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

profits 

Non-

controlling 

interests 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve  Total 

  € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

        
        
At 1 January 2021  188 - 228,932 - (143) 228,977 

        
Profit for the financial year  - - 24,414 - -        24,414 

Foreign currency translation reserve  -                  - - - 101 101 

        
At 31 December 2021  188 - 253,346 - (42)      253,492 

        

Loss for the financial year  - - (4,266) - - (4,266) 

Foreign currency translation reserve  -                  - - - 142 142 

        

At 31 December 2022  188 - 249,080 - 100 249,368 

        

        

 
     

 
 

Company  

  

Called up 

Share 

Capital and 

Capital 

Contribution 

Retained 

profits Total 

    € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

       
At 1 January 2021 (as originally stated)    188 370,291 370,479 

Change in accounting policies ( Ref 1.2)    -   (216,988)   (216,988) 

       
At 1 January 2021 (restated)    188 153,303 153,491 

Loss for the financial year    - (12,085) (12,085) 

       
At 31 December 2021 (restated)    188 141,218 141,406 

  

At 1 January 2022 (as originally stated) 
 

  188 404,243 404,431 

Change in accounting policies ( Ref 1.2)  
  - (263,025) (263,025) 

At 1 January 2022 (restated)    188 141,218 141,406 

Profit for the financial year  
  - 47,039 47,039 

At 31 December 2022    188 188,257 188,445 
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  Consolidated  Company 

       

  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

Notes € ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

       

Net cash flows generated from operating 

activities 

26 62,018 38,187  49,770 2,177 

       

Cash flows from investing activities       

Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)  - (42,069)  - - 

Net movement of fixed assets  (307) (291)  - - 

Net disposals of available for sale assets  - -  - - 

Coupon received on available for sale assets  - -  - - 

  (42,359) (42,359)    
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (307) (42,360)  - - 

       

Cash flows from financing activities       

Issue of share capital  - -  - - 

Capital contributions paid  - -  - (2,000) 

Loan interest paid  (16,321) -  (14,551) - 

Long term loans repaid  (36,822) -  (36,822) - 

  - -    
Net cash flows used in financing activities  (53,143) -  (51,373) (2,000) 

       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents  

 

8,568 (4,173)  (1,603) 177 

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

financial year 

 

77,144 81,317  1,833 1,656 

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

financial year 

 

85,712 77,144  230 1,833 
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1. Statement of accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies that the Group applied in preparing its financial statements for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below. Where an accounting policy for a subsidiary differs from the 

group accounting policies (1.1 - 1.26) this will be stated within the individual policy including any financial 

impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

1.1.  General information and basis of preparation 

Both the Group consolidated and the Company's financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the 

European Union and applicable at 31 December 2022. The financial statements also comply with the 

requirements of relevant Irish legislation including the Companies Act, 2014. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 

revaluation of certain assets and liabilities to the extent required or permitted under accounting standards as 

set out in the relevant accounting policies. They are presented in euro, rounded to the nearest thousand. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and each of its 

subsidiaries as detailed in Note 2. A subsidiary is an entity where the Company has the power, directly or 

indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 

in assessing whether the Company controls the entity. 

 

Subsidiaries in which the Company has a beneficial interest are consolidated from the date on which control 

is transferred to the Company until the date that control ceases. They are deconsolidated from the date that 

control ceases.  

 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether 

equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 

comprises the: 

 

- fair values of the assets transferred 

- liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business 

- equity interests issued by the Group 

- fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

and 

- fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest 

in the acquired entity on an acquisition by acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling 

interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.  

Acquisition- related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 

liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  

Going concern 

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group will continue in operational 

existence for twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements (‘the period of assessment’) 

and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

In making this assessment, the directors considered the following; 

 Solvency 

 Liquidity & Cash flow Management 

 Asset Quality 

 Counterparty Exposure 

 Insurance & Mortality Risk 
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In addition, the potential for reinsurers not honouring their financial or operational commitments has also been 

considered. 

On the basis of the above, the directors have concluded that the Company and Group have no material 

uncertainties which would cast a significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern 

over the period of assessment. 

 

1.2. Restatement of comparative information 

The Company comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2021 was restated to change the 

accounting policy for the valuation of investment in subsidiaries from fair value to cost less impairment. This is 

a voluntary accounting policy change and is made to provide more relevant information on the underlying 

performance of the Company in the year as it now excludes unrealised gains on the investments in subsidiaries 

of the Company. On the Statement of Financial Position this has resulted in a decrease to “Investment in 

subsidiaries” and a corresponding decrease to “Retained earnings”. In the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income this has resulted in a decrease in the “Movement in value of subsidiaries”  

 

Balance sheet (extract) 31 December 2021 

(€’000) 

(Decrease)/Increase 

(€’000) 

31 December 2021 

restated (€’000) 

Investment in subsidiary 533,949 (263,025) 270,924 

Retained earnings 404,243 (263,025) 141,218 

 

Balance sheet (extract) 1 January 2021 

(€’000) 

(Decrease)/Increase 

 (€’000) 

1 January 2021 

restated (€’000) 

Opening retained 

earnings 

370,291 (216,988) 153,303 

 

Income statement 

(extract) 

31 December 2021 

(€’000) 

(Decrease)/Increase 

 (€’000) 

31 December 2021 

restated (€’000) 

Fair value movement in 

investment in subsidiaries 

47,532 

 

(46,037) 1,495 

 

In the Cash flow statement disclosed in note 26, there is a restatement of €46,037k to the 2021 comparatives 

to decrease “Profit before taxation” from €33,952 to “Loss before taxation” of (€12,085k) and a decrease of 

€46,037k to “Fair value movement in investment in subsidiaries” from €47,532k to €1,495k. 

 

1.3.  Foreign currency translation 

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transactions.  Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of 

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement. 

 

Translation differences on monetary financial assets measured at fair value and designated as held at fair 

value through the profit or loss are included in foreign exchange gains and losses in the income statement. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, which are designated as fair value, are reported as part of the 

fair value gain or loss.  

 

Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency for all of the 

group companies apart from Utmost Bermuda which remains USD.  
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Transactions and balances treatment for translation of Utmost Bermuda 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from functional to presentational currency are recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income as a movement in the foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR). 

 

1.4.  Investment in subsidiary undertakings 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by UHIL. UHIL controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 

returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

entity.  

 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost less impairment. The 

Company assesses at each reporting date whether an investment in a subsidiary is impaired by evaluating 

whether any indicators of impairment exist. If an indicator of impairment exists, the Company calculates the 

recoverable amount of the subsidiary and where this amount is less than the carrying value of the subsidiary, 

an impairment is recognised. 

 

 

1.5.  Financial assets 

Classification and measurement  

The Group has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets into the following categories; 

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); 

 Amortised cost. 
 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets is dependent on the business model for 

managing the assets and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.  

  

 Amortised Cost: Assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 

flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and that are not recognised at 

FVPL are measured at amortised cost 

 Fair Value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised costs and are 

actively traded are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Business model: The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to 

generate cash flows. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model include 

past experience on how cash flows were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated 

and reported to key management personnel and how risks are assessed. 

 

Amortised cost investments 

The Group holds a solvency portfolio which consists of relatively long dated bonds (or fixed income 

securities) which are held for asset-liability matching purposes.  

 

Financial assets - recognition, measurement and derecognition 

Purchases of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is when the Company commits to 

purchase the assets, and are valued at their purchase price. 

Listed investments and derivatives are valued at current bid-price at the statement of financial position date. 

Unlisted investments for which a market exists are also stated at the current bid-price at the statement of 

financial position date or the last trading day before that date. The value of other unlisted investments, for 

which no active market exists, are established at directors’ best estimate of fair value, based on third party 

information or valuations provided by counterparties, or valued at cost and reviewed for impairment at the 

statement of financial position date. 

After initial recognition, the Company measures loans and receivables at amortised cost, other than those 

that the Company intends to sell in the near term, which the Company designates upon initial recognition at 

fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are subject to impairment review and impairment provisions 

are recognized in in line with the Expected Credit Loss (‘ECL’). This basis of valuation is reviewed by the 
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directors, having prudent regard to the likely realisable value. Financial assets are derecognised when 

contractual rights to receive cash flows from the investments expire, or where the investments, together with 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, have been transferred. 

Impairment of financial assets 

For financial assets the Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated 

with its debtors, other receivables and solvency portfolio carried at amortised cost as well as the financial 

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. The impairment methodology applied depends on 

whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. For receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach 

permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the 

receivables. Impairment losses are recognised within the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.  

The ECL for debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income does not reduce 

the carrying amount of these financial assets in the Statement of Financial Position, which remains at fair value. 

Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the asset were measured at amortised cost is 

recognised in OCI with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated gain recognised in OCI is 

recycled to the profit or loss upon de-recognition of the assets. 

For non-financial assets, an impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount exceeds the 

recoverable amount. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss is reversed 

if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. For the purpose of assessing 

the impairment, assets are grouped together at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 

cash flows (cash-generating units). Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that after the reversal, the asset's carrying amount is 

no greater than the amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised. 

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised immediately in the 

statement of comprehensive income. Fair values are obtained from the quoted market prices in active 

markets. All derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value 

is negative. 

Investment income  

Income from investments is included in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Realised and unrealised investment gains and losses 

Realised gains and losses are calculated as the difference between net sales proceeds and the related 

purchase price.  

Unrealised gains and losses attributable to assets in the life assurance business fund are reported in the 

statement of comprehensive income. The movement in unrealised gains and losses on investments represents 

the difference between the fair value at the statement of financial position date and their purchase price and 

their fair value at the last statement of financial position date, together with the reversal of unrealised gains 

and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in respect of investment disposals in the current period. 
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Fair value hierarchy 

The Group reviews its financial investments and classifies them in accordance with IFRS 13. Similarly, for 

investments for the benefit of life assurance policyholders who bear the investment risk, the Group reviews 

these investments at each year end and classifies them according to IFRS13. If the Group considers that there 

is a change in measurement basis due to a change in inputs, it will reclassify the relevant financial investment 

to the appropriate level and separately disclose this transfer. 

Where possible financial assets and liabilities are valued based on listed market prices by reference to quoted 

market bid-prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities, without any deduction for transaction costs.  These 

are categorised as Level 1 financial instruments and do not involve estimates. If prices are not readily 

determinable, fair values are determined using valuation techniques including pricing models, discounted 

cash flow techniques or broker quotes. Financial instruments valued where valuation techniques are based 

on observable market data at the year-end are categorised as Level 2 financial instruments.  Financial 

instruments valued where valuation techniques are based on non-observable inputs are categorised as Level 

3 financial instruments. Level 2 and Level 3 financial instruments therefore involve the use of estimates. 

 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially recognised at fair value, being their issue proceeds net of 

transaction costs incurred. All liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss, are 

subsequently carried at amortised cost. For financial liabilities measured at amortised cost any difference 

between initial fair value and redemption value is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

using the effective interest rate method. 

 

A liability upon initial recognition may be designated at fair value through profit or loss when:  

a) it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 

arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; or 

b) a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and its performance is evaluated on a 

fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. 

 

The classification of instruments as a financial liability or an equity instrument is dependent upon the substance 

of the contractual arrangement. Instruments which carry a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 

financial asset to another entity are classified as financial liabilities. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires. 

 

Finance costs 

Interest payable is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues and is calculated by 

using the effective interest method. Borrowing costs are not capitalised. 

 

1.6.  Reinsurance 

The Group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business, with limits varying by line of business.  Amounts 

recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the underlying contract liabilities, 
outstanding claims provisions or settled claims associated with the reinsured policies and in accordance with 

the relevant reinsurance contract.  

 

There are reinsurance arrangements in place for UPE, QIID and UBL. All reinsurance is in line with the underlying 

entity reinsurance policy and the accounting for each of these is ceded between premiums, claims and 

liabilities for insurance contracts. There is no accounting treatment difference across the entities and 

reinsurance recoverability is in line with actual experience. 

Reinsurance assets represent balances due from reinsurance companies. Reinsurers’ share of insurance 

contract liabilities are dependent on expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured policies. 
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Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication 

of impairment arises during the reporting period. Impairment occurs when there is objective evidence as a 

result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset that the Group may not 

receive all outstanding amounts due under the terms of the contract and the event has a reliably measurable 

impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer. The impairment loss is recorded in the 

statement of comprehensive income.  

 

The Company reinsures its with-profits business with Aviva Life & Pensions UK Limited and Phoenix Life Limited. 

Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are presented on a gross basis in the income statement and 

statement of financial position as appropriate. 

1.7.  Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position if, 

and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

Income and expenses are not offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless required or permitted 

by an international financial reporting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the accounting 

policies of the Group. 

 

 

1.8.  Product Classification 

Contracts under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk are classified as insurance contracts.   

 

Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Group from the policyholder is not significant are 

classified as investment contracts.  

 

Some insurance and investment contracts contain a discretionary participation feature (‘DPF’). This feature 

entitles the policyholder to additional discretionary benefits as a supplement to guaranteed benefits. 

Investment contracts with a DPF are recognised, measured and presented as insurance contracts. 

 

1.9.  Investment contracts 

Contracts issued by the Group are unit-linked and do not contain any significant insurance risk. These contracts 

are all classified as investment contracts. The entities who have investment contracts include UPE and Utmost 

Bermuda. 

 

Financial assets, investment property and derivative financial instruments held in respect of linked liabilities to 

customers and related liabilities to customers under investments contracts are stated at fair value and are 

separately disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position. 

 

Premiums received and claims paid are accounted for directly in the Statement of Financial Position as 

adjustments to the investment contract liability. Investment income and changes in fair value arising from the 

investment contract assets and the corresponding movement in investment contract liabilities are included 

on a net basis in other operating income. 

 

Revenue on investment management services provided to holders of investment contracts is recognised as 

the services are performed. 

 

1.10. Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF 

The Group’s with-profits business is classified as Insurance business and is partially reassured to Phoenix Life 

Limited. In considering the level of insurance risk, UPE has recognised the significance of the insurance 

guarantees attaching to the with-profits business and in particular that no market value adjustment (MVA) is 

applied in the case of the death of policyholders. This compares to policy surrenders where an MVA is applied 

to the value of policy at exit. The IFRS cash reserve for Insurance business is calculated as the present value of 
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all projected future outgoings and income. The calculation is carried out using best estimate assumptions and 

a floor of zero is applied to policies which are estimated to have negative non-unit reserves. The Group also 

classifies liabilities in respect of with-profits business in UPE written prior to being acquired by the Group as 

insurance contract liabilities. This business is 100% reinsured to Aviva Life & Pensions UK Limited. 

The majority of the life assurance contracts issued by the Group are long-term life assurance contracts. 

Guaranteed benefits paid on occurrence of the specified insurance event are either fixed or linked to the 

extent of the economic loss suffered by the policyholder.  

 

The significant accounting policies applied in relation to insurance contracts and investment contracts with 

DPF are: 

Liabilities under insurance contracts 

The insurance contract liabilities comprise the provision for claims, the life assurance provision and the provision 

for unearned premiums.  

The Life Assurance Provision was calculated by a Fellow Member of the Society of Actuaries in Ireland. The 

computation was made on the basis of recognised actuarial methods, with due regard to the actuarial 

principles laid down in European Union (Insurance Undertakings: Financial Statements) Regulations, 2015. The 

Life Assurance Provision was computed separately for each life assurance contract, using surrender, expense 

and mortality assumptions that reflect the Company’s expected experience with appropriate allowance for 

margins of prudence.  

Liabilities – insurance and investment contracts with DPF, are calculated as follows: 

A liability for contractual benefits that are expected to be incurred in the future is recorded when the premium 

is recognised. The liabilities of the Group’s unitised with-profit business are calculated as the lower of the current 

unit value and surrender value of each policy. The major element of the unitised with-profit liabilities is reinsured 

to Aviva Life & Pensions Limited and the remainder is partially reinsured to Phoenix Life Limited. 

 Assumptions are made in respect of all material factors affecting future cash flows, including future interest 

rates, mortality, and costs.  

 

Embedded derivatives 

Embedded derivatives, including options to surrender insurance contracts, that meet the definition of 

insurance contracts or are closely related to the host insurance contract, are not separately measured. All 

other embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and measured at fair value through profit 

or loss. 

 

Liability adequacy 

At each reporting date, liability adequacy tests are performed to assess whether the insurance contract and 

investment contract with DPF liabilities are adequate. Current best estimates of future cash flows are 

compared to the carrying value of the liabilities. Any deficiency is charged as an expense to the statement 

of comprehensive income.  

 

The Group’s accounting policies for insurance contracts meet the minimum specified requirements for liability 

adequacy testing under IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, as they allow for current estimates of all contractual cash 

flows and of related cash flows such as claims handling costs. Cash flows resulting from embedded options 

and guarantees are also allowed for, with any deficiency being recognised as income or an expense in the 

statement of comprehensive income.  

 

Unallocated surplus  

The unallocated surplus comprises the excess of the assets over the policyholder liabilities of the unitised with-

profit business.  For the Group’s unitised with-profit business, the amount included in the statement of financial 

position line item ‘Unallocated surplus’ represents amounts which have yet to be allocated to policyholders. 

The unitised with-profit business is closed to new business and as permitted by IFRS 4, the whole of the 

unallocated surplus is classified as a liability. 
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1.11. Investment property 

Investment property comprises freehold and leasehold properties held to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation or both. 

 

Investment property - held in respect of liabilities to customers under investment contracts 

Investment property held in respect of liabilities to customers under investment contracts is included in the 

Statement of Financial Position at fair value. Fair values are based on valuations provided by independent 

third party valuers using, where relevant, accepted Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors guidelines or 

equivalent local guidelines appropriate to the location of the property. Fair values are reviewed and agreed 

by management. 

 

 

1.12. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historic purchase cost less accumulated depreciation. The costs 

of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a straight line basis as 

follows: 

 

Leasehold improvement, Fixtures and Fittings - 20% Straight Line 

Computer hardware and software - 50% Straight Line 

Leasehold Property – remaining term of lease 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 

reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 

asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it’s probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

1.13.   Leases 

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and related lease liability except for those identified as low-value 

or having a remaining lease term of less than 12 months from the date of initial application.  

 

1.14. Tax (current and deferred) 

Current tax payable is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year adjusted for changes to 

previous periods and is calculated based on the applicable tax law in the relevant tax jurisdiction. Deferred 

tax is provided using the Statement of Financial Position method on temporary differences arising between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities for taxation purposes and their carrying amounts in the financial 

statements. Current and deferred taxes are determined using tax rates based on legislation enacted or 

substantively enacted at the year-end date and expected to apply when the related tax asset is realised or 

the related tax liability is settled. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which temporary differences will be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised when there are temporary difference between the carrying value of 

assets and the tax base. 
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Current and deferred taxes are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which 

the profits arise except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the 

taxes are also recognised in equity. 

 

Deferred and current tax assets and liabilities are only offset when they arise in the same reporting group for 

tax purposes and where there is both the legal right and intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

1.15. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised in respect of present legal or constructive obligations arising from past events where 

it is probable that outflows of economic resources will be required to settle the obligations and they can be 

reliably estimated. 

 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of uncertain future 

events or those present obligations where the outflows of economic resources are uncertain or cannot be 

measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless 

they are remote. 

 

A provision is recognised for onerous contracts in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 

under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs 

reflect the least net cost of exiting the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any 

compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. 

 

1.16. Deferred acquisition costs 

Deferred acquisition costs for non-participating investment contracts and insurance contracts are amortised 

over the period in which the service is provided. Deferred acquisition costs are reviewed by category of 

business at the end of each reporting period and are written off where they are no longer considered to be 

recoverable.  

 

1.17. Deferred Income Liability 

At the inception of certain investment contracts, establishment charges or front-end fees were collected from 

the policyholder either at the outset or over the first few years, in respect of costs expected to be incurred 

over the lifetime of the contract. These establishment charges or front-end fees are presented as a Deferred 

Income Reserve. This liability is amortised over the expected term of the contract and is included within “Fee 

and commission receivable” in the statement of comprehensive income.   

 

1.18. Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and deposits 

with a maturity of less than three months. 

 

 

1.19. Income recognition 

Gross premiums 

In respect of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, premiums are accounted for on a 

receivable basis and exclude any taxes or duties based on premiums.  Funds at retirement under individual 

pension contracts converted to annuities with the Group are, for accounting purposes, included in both claims 

incurred and premiums within gross premiums written. 

 

Reinsurance premiums 

Outward reinsurance premiums are accounted for on a payables basis. 
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Fee and charges and deferred front-end fees  

Investment contract policyholders are charged fees for policy administration, investment management, 

surrenders or other contract services.  These fees consist of recurring fees and “front end” fees (fees that are 

assessed against the policyholder balance as consideration for origination of the contract). The fees may be 

for fixed amounts or vary with the amounts being managed, and will generally be charged as an adjustment 

to the policyholder’s balance. 

The recurring fees consist of contractual fees and percentage fees related to investment management 

services and are recognised as revenue over time, as performance obligations are satisfied. In most cases, this 

revenue is recognised in the same period in which the fees are charged to the policyholder. Fees that are 

related to services to be provided in future periods are deferred and recognised when the performance 

obligation is fulfilled. 

Initiation and other “front-end” fees (fees that are assessed against the policyholder balance as consideration 

for origination of the contract) are charged on some non-participating investment contracts. Front-end fees 

that relate to the provision of investment management services are deferred and recognised over the 

expected term of the policy on a straight line basis. 

Commissions receivable arising from investments in funds are recognised as revenue over time, as 

performance obligations are satisfied. Other inward commissions and rebates are accounted for on a receipts 

basis, net of any amounts directly attributable to policies, as this is when the income can be measured reliably 

and it is highly probable that it will not be subject to significant reversal.  

Renewal commission and advisor fees 

Advisor fees and renewal commission charges are charged to the contract holders of investment contracts 

for services related to administration and investment services. These fees form part of the ongoing fees paid 

to intermediaries and advisors. The fees charged to the investment contracts and the fees payable to the 

intermediaries are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively as the services are provided and the 

fees fall due for payment. 

 

Net investment return 

Net investment income comprises interest, dividends and fair value gains and losses on financial assets. 

 

Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues using the effective 

interest method.  Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date the 

right to receive payments is established, which in the case of listed securities is the ex-dividend date. 

 

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability 

and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments and receipts throughout the expected 

life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the 

financial asset or financial liability. 

 

The calculation includes all fees, transaction costs and other premiums and discounts that are an integral part 

of the effective interest rate on the transaction. 

 

Once an impairment loss has occurred on an individual asset, interest income is recognised on that asset using 

the rate of interest at which its estimated future cash flows were discounted in measuring impairment. 

 

Fair value gains and losses on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in 

the statement of comprehensive income.  Realised gains and losses are the difference between the net sale 

proceeds and the original cost. Unrealised gains and losses are the difference between the valuation at the 

period end and their valuation at the previous period end or purchase price, if acquired during the year. 
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1.20.         Benefits, claims and expenses recognition 

Gross benefits and claims 

Claims on insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF reflect the cost of all claims arising during 

the period, including policyholder bonuses allocated in anticipation of a bonus declaration. Claims payable 

on maturity are recognised when the claim becomes due for payment and claims payable on death are 

recognised on notification. Surrenders are accounted for at the earlier of the payment date or when the policy 

ceases to be included within insurance contract liabilities. Where claims are payable and the contract remains 

in force, the claim instalment is accounted for when due for payment. Claims payable include the costs of 

settlement. 

 

Reinsurance claims 

Reinsurance claims are recognised when the related gross insurance claim is recognised according to the 

terms of the relevant contract. 

 

1.21.         Employee benefits 

All permanent employees of the Group are eligible to join the Group’s Defined Contribution Scheme. The 

contributions made by the Group to the scheme are recognised as an employee benefit expense and are 

included in Administrative expenses. The defined contribution pension scheme is known as Utmost Ireland 

Pension Scheme.  

 

 

1.22.       Critical accounting policies and use of estimates   

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that 

underlie the preparation of its financial statements. Irish company law and IFRS require the Directors, in 

preparing the Group's financial statements, to select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently 

and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable.  

 

Item Critical accounting judgment, estimate or 

assumption 

Accounting Policy 

Insurance Liabilities Assessment of the significance of insurance risk 1.9 

Financial Investments Fair values of financial investments 1.4 

Deferred Tax asset 

AVIF 

Deferred Income Reserve 

Recognition of deferred tax asset 

Recognition and carrying value of AVIF 

Deferral of establishment fees 

1.14 

1.23 

1.16 

 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the 

judgments and carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual 

results may differ from these estimates.   

 

1.23.        Goodwill, Intangible assets and acquired value of in-force policies (‘AVIF’) 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s 

interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the entity recognised 

at the date of acquisition. 

 

Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses. Goodwill is held in the currency of the acquired entity and revalued to the closing rate at 

each balance sheet date. Goodwill is not subject to amortisation but is tested for impairment. 
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Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

An intangible asset may be acquired in a business combination. If an intangible asset is acquired in a business 

combination, the cost of the asset is specified by IAS38 (in accordance with IFRS3) based on its fair value on 

the date of acquisition. The fact that a price can be established for an intangible asset which is acquired in a 

business combination is accepted as evidence that future economic benefits are expected to accrue to the 

entity. 

The present value of future profits on a portfolio of long-term insurance and investment contracts, representing 

the acquired value of in-force policies, can be acquired directly or through the purchase of a subsidiary, is 

recognised as an intangible asset. The AVIF is amortised over the useful lifetime of the related contracts in the 

portfolio on a systemic basis. The rate of amortisation is chosen by considering the profile of the additional 

value of in-force business acquired and the expected depletion in its value. 

Insurance and participating investment contract AVIF is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date as 

part of the liability adequacy requirements of IFRS 4. Acquired VIF is reviewed for evidence of impairment and 

impairment tested at portfolio level by reference to a projection of future profits arising from the portfolio. 

 

Insurance and investment contract liabilities 

Insurance and investment contract liability accounting is discussed in more detail in accounting policies 1.8 

and 1.9. 

 

1.24. Prospective accounting changes  

No new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB).  

IFRS 17: ‘Insurance Contracts’  

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ is a replacement of the previous insurance contracts standard IFRS 4 and applies 

to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, including restatement of prior year results. 

The Group is participating in an Utmost Group led project, with the support of external advisors, to assess the 

applicability and impact of IFRS 17 on its business. IFRS 17 changes the methodology under which (re) 

insurance contract liabilities are measured, in addition to revising the presentation of the primary statements 

and disclosures in the financial statements. These changes will impact the recognition of profit and add 

complexity to actuarial processes, system requirements and assumption setting. 

 

The Group has continued its implementation project including completion of an impact assessment in the 

year as well as continuation of technical and operational solution design and implementation. The 

implementation activities undertaken during the year include an assessment of which contracts are in scope 

of the standard, identification of system and data requirements and the development of accounting 

methodologies, policies and models.  

During the year the Group has completed an initial calculation of the transition balance sheet as at 1 January 

2022 which is still under review.  

 

1.25.       Italian withholding tax prepayment 

Contributions to the Italian Revenue as a result of the UPE acting as a Withholding Tax Agent are recognised 

as a tax prepayment asset.  Italian capital gains tax recovered from policyholders is offset against this asset.  

The recoverable amount of this asset is reviewed at each financial year-end and is determined by the Board 

of Directors. This asset has not been discounted in the financial statements. 

 

1.26.       Operating expenses 

All operating expenses, including acquisition costs, are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 

when incurred.  Acquisition costs comprise the direct and indirect costs of obtaining and processing new 

business. 
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2. Subsidiaries  

The consolidated financial statements include the following subsidiaries:  

 

 

 

3. Fees and commission receivable 

 

 

 

4. Investment Return 

Subsidiary 

Date of 

acquisition 

Registered address/ 

business office Nature of business Shares held 

Harcourt Life Corporation 

dac 

11 Mar 15 Ashford House 

18-23 Tara Street 

Dublin 2, Ireland 

Management 

activities 

100% of issued 

share capital 

 

Utmost PanEurope dac 

(previously Generali 

PanEurope dac) 

19 June 2018 

 

Navan Business Park 

Athlumney, Navan 

Co Meath, Ireland 

Life insurance 100% of issued 

share capital 

 

Utmost Services Ireland 

Limited  

18 Aug 15 

(incorporation 

date) 

Ashford House 

18-23 Tara Street 

Dublin 2, Ireland 

Management and 

administration 

services 

100% of issued 

share capital 

 

Athlumney Kappa (Ireland) 

dac (previously  Quilter 

International Ireland) 

30 November 21 Ashford House 

18-23 Tara Street 

Dublin 2, Ireland 

Life insurance 100% of issued 

share capital 

 

Utmost Bermuda Limited 

(previously Altraplan 

Bermuda Limited) 

30 Nov 16 Clarendon House 

2 Church Street 

Hamilton HM 11 

Bermuda 

Life insurance 100% of issued 

share capital 

 

 

   Consolidated 

 

 

     

   31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

   € ‘000            € ‘000 

Fee income from investment contracts     90,509 64,068 

Initial Fees     9,366 366 

Commission earned on reinsurance premiums ceded    14,599 14,901 

Trail commissions received    4,245 2,752 

Deferred fees    (2,644) 2,074 

    116,075 84,161 

   Consolidated 

      

   31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

      

Change in fair value of financial assets    (3,246,549) 1,767,420 

Income from financial assets at amortised cost    141 138 

    (3,246,408) 1,767,558 
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5. Other operating income 

 

 

 

 

6. Administrative expenses 

   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,313 1,559 

IT costs 4,191 4,188 

Auditor’s fees 858 770 

Auditor’s fees  - Solvency II related 234 227 

Occupational costs 992 1,164 

Professional fees  19,251 15,047 

Other administrative costs  1,117 819 

 27,956 23,774 

Stamp Duty - 470 

Total Costs 

 

57,562 52,212 

 

 Consolidated  Company 

      

31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

€ ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

      

MSA fee income from other group company 2,886 3,199  - - 

Other income 970 370  - 62 

 3,856 3,569  - 62 

   Consolidated 

    31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

          € ‘000        € ‘000 

 Staff costs      

 Wages and salaries    23,177 22,424 

 Retirement benefit costs    1,546 1,411 

 Social insurance costs    3,158 2,538 

 Other staff costs    1,725 1,595 

    29,606 27,968 
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The financial year’s profit / (loss) before tax for the financial year is stated after charging Directors'     

remuneration as follows: 

 

Average monthly number of employees for UHIL (including the Directors) during 2022 were Nil (2021: Nil). All 

Group employees are employees of USIL.  The average number of employees during 2022 was 386 (2021: 377). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Administrative expenses (continued) 

 

Auditors’ Remuneration   

The remuneration of the auditors for UHIL Company is further analysed as follows: 

 2022 2021 

Auditors remuneration PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC Ireland) €'000 €'000 

Audit of the financial statements 94 84 

Audit related assurance services including Solvency II 58 51 

Non – audit services - - 

Auditors remuneration PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC Isle of Man)   

Audit of financial statements - 19 

Total auditors’ remuneration 152 154 

 

 

Non-executive 

Directors’ fees 

Directors’ 

salaries 

Annual taxable 

benefits 

Pension 

contributions 

 

Total 

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

 

2022 189 844 381 70 1,484 

2021 204 488 406 59 1,157 
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7. Taxation 

 

 

The reconciliation of taxation on profits / (losses) before taxation at the standard Irish corporation tax rate to 

the actual tax charge is analysed as follows: 

 

 Consolidated  Company 

     Restated 

 31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

€ ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

Current taxation 5,191 5,728  (46) - 

  (3,564)    

 Consolidated  Company 

     Restated 

31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

€ ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

Profit / (Loss) on ordinary activities before 

taxation 925 30,142  46,993 (12,085) 

Tax at 12.5% (2021:12.5%) (Consolidated) 25% 

(2021:25%) (Company) 116 3,768  11,748 (3,021) 

      

Fair Value gains exempt from corporation tax  - -  578 (374) 

Income exempt from corporation tax charges - -  - (15) 

Foreign profits subject to lower corporation tax 

rates - -  - - 

Prior year (Under) / Over Provision  (570) 3,244  - - 

Other income not taxable - (8)  - - 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes- 

permanent differences 1,496 1,549  174 3,386 

Adjustment on investment in Subsidiaries 5,564 (2,308)  - - 

Franked Investment Income - -     (12,500) - 

Gain arising on bargain purchase - -  - - 

Prior year losses utilised on which deferred tax 

was not recognised (826) (740)  - - 

Irish income tax 180 104    

Foreign Tax 386 119  - - 

Group relief (1,155) -  (46) - 

Transfer Pricing Adjustments - -  - - 

Current Year Losses carried forward on which 

no deferred tax asset is recognised - -  - 24 

Tax charge for the financial year 5,191 5,728  (46) - 
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8. (Loss)/Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 

 

 

9. Property, plant & equipment 

 

Cost and Net book value   Leasehold 

improvements, 

Computer and 

Office 

Equipment 

Right to 

Use 

Asset 

Total 

 

Year ended 31 December 2022 

  €’000 €’000 €’000 

Opening net book value 1 January 

2022 

  988 7,738 8,726 

Additions in the year   307 - 307 

Disposals in the year   - -     - 

Depreciation charge   (328) (985) (1,313) 

Closing net book value   967 6,753 7,720 

      

At 31 December 2022      

Cost or valuation   7,467 10,923 18,390 

Accumulated depreciation   (6,500) (4,170) (10,670) 

Net book amount   967 6,753 7,720 

      

      

At 31 December 2021   988 7,738 8,726 

At 31 December 2022   967 6,753 7,720 

 

 

 

     

10. Investments in subsidiaries 

 

 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at cost less impairment. The 

Company assesses at each reporting date whether an investment in a subsidiary is impaired by evaluating 

whether any indicators of impairment exist. If an indicator of impairment exists, the Company calculates the 

recoverable amount of the subsidiary and where this amount is less than the carrying value of the subsidiary, 

an impairment is recognised. 

   Consolidated 

      

   31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

(Loss)/ Profit attributable to equity holders of 

the parent    (4,266) 

 

24,414 

  -  - (21,061) 

 Company 

           Restated 

 2022 2021 

 € ‘000 € ‘000 

   
Opening balance 270,924 267,429 

Investments / disposals during the financial year  - 2,000 

Movements in value of subsidiary in the financial year (2,313) 1,495 

Balance at the end of the financial year 268,611 270,924 
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11. Acquired value of in-force business 

 

 

The AVIF is calculated, based on the present value of expected future profits of UPE and the ex-Aegon 

International Investment bond business, allowing for the cost of capital.  

The additional AVIF reported in 2021 relates to the acquisition of QIID.  Key assumptions include future lapse, 

renewal and expense assumptions. The AVIF is amortised in line with the projected run-off of the Solvency II 

best estimate liabilities. The AVIF is reviewed for impairments at each reporting date by reference to the value 

of future profits in accordance with Solvency II principles.  

 

12. Assets held to cover linked liabilities 

 

 

Interest in structured entities 

A structured entity is an entity that is designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in 

deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the 

relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements.  

A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes: (a) restricted activities, (b) a 

narrow and well defined objective, such as to provide investment opportunities for investors by passing on risks 

and rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity to investors, (c) insufficient equity to permit the 

structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated financial support and (d) financing in the form 

of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create concentrations of credit or other risks 

(tranches). 

 

The Group considers its investments in collective investment schemes to be investments in unconsolidated 

structured entities, which are recognised within “Assets held to cover linked liabilities” on the Statement of 

Financial Position. These investments largely represent assets held to back policyholder linked liabilities, and as 

such any market movements (recognised within “Investment return” in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income”) is matched by a change in investment contract liabilities in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. 

 Consolidated 

 2022 2021 

 € ‘000 € ‘000 

   
At the beginning of the financial year  228,018 155,340 

AVIF upon acquisition of QIID - 90,490 

Amortisation of AVIF and Impairment of QIID AVIF  (41,058) (17,812) 

   

At the end of the financial year 186,960 228,018 

   Consolidated 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

Loans and deposits     2,047,039 2,397,311 

Equities    2,260,203 2,109,048 

Fixed and variable income securities    2,393,490 1,721,516 

Collective scheme investments    16,226,099 18,730,365 

Derivatives     11,505 1,560 

Other Investments    530,081 326,699 

      
Total assets    23,468,417 25,286,499 
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13. Other Investments 

 

  

14. Other assets 

 

 

 

 

15. Insurance contract receivables 

 

 

 

 

16. Deferred acquisition costs 

 

 

  

  

  

   Consolidated 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

Fixed Interest Securities at fair value through profit 

& loss    35,553 90,937 

Fixed Interest Securities at amortised cost    10,144 11,143 

Ordinary shares and funds at  fair value through 

profit & loss    105,666 130,059 

      
    151,363 232,139 

 Consolidated  Company 

 31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

€ ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

      

          Other assets 1,377 1,033  - 62 

 1,377 1,033  - 62 

 

 

 

 

 -  - - 

 Consolidated  Company 

 2022 2021  2022 2021 

€ ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

      

           Insurance contract receivables 30,625 30,604  - - 

      Consolidated 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

          Balance at 1 January 2022    34,257 27,742 

          Costs deferred in current financial year    20,115 8,932 

          Release to income statement    (4,736) (2,417) 

          Balance at 31 December 2022    49,636 34,257 
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17. Deferred income  

 

 

18. Liabilities under insurance contracts 

 

 

 

 

19. Unallocated surplus 

   Consolidated 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

Acquisition costs at 1 January    53,492 45,763 

Amortisation    (2,416) (2,073) 

Income deferred in current year    7,060 9,802 

    58,136 53,492 

 Consolidated  Consolidated 

 

 Gross  

liabilities 

 Reinsurers’ 

share 

 Gross  

liabilities 

 Reinsurers’ 

share 

 2022 2022 2021 2021 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 

Life assurance business:     

Insurance contracts  676,671 552,702 795,405 643,184 

Investment contracts with discretionary 

participating features (DPF) 

44,660 

- 

50,970 

- 

As at 31 December  721,331 552,702 846,375 643,184 

     

 Consolidated  Consolidated 

 

 Gross  

liabilities 

Reinsurers’ 

share 

 Gross  

liabilities 

Reinsurers’ 

share 

 2022 2022 2021 2021 

 €000 €000 €000 €000 

At 1 January  846,375 643,184 800,605 588,094 

     

Additions on acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 8,427 

Policyholder Premiums 569 702 247 33 

Policy holder Claims (38,755) (25,075) (35,846) (24,724) 

Changes in reserves (85,964) (66,109) 81,603 71,354 

Foreign exchange movements (894) - (234)                           - 

     

As at 31 December  721,331 552,702 846,375 643,184 

   Consolidated 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

At 1 January    36,934 30,560 

Transfer from statement of comprehensive income        (10,422) 6,374 

At 31 December     26,512 36,934 
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22. Financial liabilities 

 

 

Financial liabilities comprise loans carried at amortised cost.  The loan from Utmost Limited, a related party, is 

a £20m facility provided to UPE following its acquisition by the Company in June 2018. The loan note was 

transferred on 30 November 2022 to Utmost international Isle of Man Limited.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20. Technical provisions for investment contract 

    

 Consolidated 

 2022 2021 

€ ‘000 € ‘000 

At 1 January  25,157,671 17,663,901 

Additions on acquisition of subsidiaries / Section 13 transfers 9,413 4,453,674 

Premium income 2,683,258 1,923,853 

Claims (993,652) (1,086,023) 

Foreign exchange movements (255,209)       462,392 

Other changes in liabilities (3,223,691)  1,739,874 

At the end of the financial year 23,377,790 25,157,671 

21. Payables related to direct insurance contracts 

and reinsurance payables 

   

 

Consolidated 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

Payables related to direct insurance contracts    18,216 26,205 

Reinsurance payables    40,464 60,086 

 Consolidated  Company 

 2022 2021  2022 2021 

€ ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

Utmost International Group Holdings Limited 77,921 118,881  77,921 118,881 

Utmost Limited - 23,776  - - 

Utmost International Isle of Man Limited 22,585 -  - - 

 100,506 142,657  77,921 118,881 
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23. Other payables 

 

 

 

24. Called up share capital presented as equity 

 

 

The issued Share Capital at 31 December 2022 was €187,850 (2021: €187,850) and Authorised Share Capital 

€300,000,000 (2021: €300,000,000). 

 

25. Withholding tax asset 

     Consolidated                        

Asset 

2022 

€’000 

2021 

€’000 

 

Balance at 1 January 129,460 128,094  

Payable in respect of 2022 - 20,560  

Prior year adjustments/ Offset special credit (1,031) (3,474)  

Recovered from policyholders post acquisition (5,414) (15,720)  

Liability at 31 December  123,015 129,460  

Payable in respect of 2021 20,560 20,560  

Paid during the financial year (19,529) -  

Less Special Offset (1,031) -  

Balance at 31 December  - 20,560  

Maturity analysis of tax expected to be recovered    

In more than one financial year, but not more than five financial years 123,015 108,900  

In more than five financial years, but not more than twenty financial years         - 20,560  

Total  123,015 129,460  

  Consolidated  Company 

  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

 € ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

Tax payable / Provision- policyholders  2,949 21,092  - - 

IFRS 16 Lease liability  7,235 8,136  - - 

Accruals  60,920 41,602  - - 

Other creditors and accruals  2,699 35,404  2,475 12,532 

    73,803 106,234  2,475 12,532 

   Consolidated and  

the Company 

    2022 2021 

   € ‘000 € ‘000 

Ordinary share capital      

Authorised      

300,000,000 (2021: 300,000,000) ordinary shares of 

€1 each    300,000 300,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid      

187,850 (2021: 187,850) ordinary shares of €1 each    188 188 
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26. Net cash flows generated from operating activities 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Consolidated  Company 

      Restated 

  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21  31 Dec 22 31 Dec 21 

 € ‘000 € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 

Profit / (loss)  before taxation  1,067 30,243  47,039 (12,085) 

Non-cash movements       

Depreciation  1,313 1,576  - - 

Changes in fair value of investments in subsidiaries  - -  2,313 (1,495) 

Changes in fair value of financial assets/ liabilities  (5,329) 2,457  (4,137) 7,217 

Change in fair value of investment contracts  - -  - - 

Change in deferred tax asset / liability  - 4,487  - - 

Amortisation of acquired VIF  41,058 17,812  - - 

Gain on Bargain Purchase  - (25,059)  - - 

Finance Costs  243 11  - - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities       

Premium income  - -  - - 

Claims  - -  - - 

Change in unallocated surplus  (10,421) 6,374  - - 

Change in deferred income                           4,644 7,729  - - 

Change in other liabilities  (20,039) 7,297  4,493 6,326 

Change in other assets  (396) 5,435  62 2,214 

Change in investment property  - -  - - 

Change in prepayments and accrued income  2,029 (4,672)  - - 

Change in assets held to cover linked Liabilities 

and other investments  1,898,858 (3,059,743)  - - 

Change in financial liabilities  - -  - - 

Change in deferred acquisition costs  (15,379) (6,515)  - - 

Change in net reinsurance assets  70,838 (38,848)  - - 

Change in insurance contract payables  (7,989) 4,574  - - 

Change in investments contract liabilities  (1,779,881) 3,040,095  - - 

Change in insurance contract liabilities  (125,043) 45,770  - - 

Change in Withholding tax asset  6,445 (1,366)  - - 

Corporation Tax Paid  - 530  - - 

Net cash flows generated from operating activities  62,018 38,187  49,770 2,177 
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27. Risk management note 

 

 

The identification, measurement and management of risk is a priority for the Group. Consequently, the Board 

of Directors has established a comprehensive framework covering accountability, oversight, measurement 

and reporting to ensure maintenance of sound systems of internal control and risk management to ensure the 

Group operates within its risk appetite. 

 

Risk appetite is a measure of the amount and type of risks the Group is willing to accept in pursuit of its 

objectives. It seeks to encourage a measured and appropriate approach to risk ensuring risks are understood 

and aligned to the business strategy and objectives. The primary objective is the protection of the solvency 

ratio to ensure it has and will have sufficient capital to discharge all liabilities as and when they become due. 

 

Governance Structure 

The Group’s governance structure comprises of the appropriate Board and sub-committee’s structures in 

each of the subsidiary operating companies. The sub-committees are Audit Committee, Risk and Compliance 

Committee and Investment Committee. 

 

The Board is responsible for identifying and articulating the risk appetite of the Group, which is expressed and 

managed through the Risk Appetite Statement. The Risk Appetite Statement is reviewed annually following 

recommendation from the Risk and Compliance Committee.  

 

The Audit Committees are responsible for reviewing the appropriateness and completeness of the systems of 

internal control. The Audit Committees also review the annual financial statements, consider the significant 

financial reporting issues and judgements, which they contain, and make recommendations to the respective 

Boards concerning their content and approval. 

 

The Risk and Compliance Committees are responsible for the review and oversight of the risk and compliance 

profile of the Group within the context of the determined risk appetite and in the context of external events 

and the business plans of the Group. 

 

The Investment Committees are responsible for the Group’s overall asset management strategy and policies 

and for identifying, monitoring, reporting, and controlling the risks connected with investment activities and 

approving changes to specific investments and changes to appetite or tolerances. 

 

The principal risks faced by the Group are operational risk (including amongst others litigation risk and limited 

recourse risk) taxation risk, market risk, governance, regulatory and compliance risk, and strategic risk, 

including risks related to the acquisition and integration of other businesses. Being mindful of the CBI PRISM 

categories for the regulated entities, other risks faced by the Group include credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk 

and funding risk. 

 

Existing or potential future risk exposures are investigated in a structured way, using internal and external 

resources and actions to mitigate, contain or remove these risks are taken. 

 

Operational Risk 

Operational risk represents the risk that failed or inadequate processes, people or systems, or exposure to 

external events could result in unexpected losses. The risk is associated with human error, systems failure and 

inadequate controls and procedures. 

 

The Group is exposed to operational risk deriving from core business activities which are either managed 

internally or through group and non-group outsourced service providers. The Group mitigates this risk through  
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

the implementation of the internal control and risk management system framework, whose design and 

structure operates to ensure that business activity complies with the laws and regulations in force and that  

Group processes are efficient and effective and that accounting and management information is reliable 

and complete. The Group has implemented a formal outsourcing process which ensures the implementation 

of appropriate organisational safeguards to monitor the performance of outsourcers and sets reporting 

obligations for critical outsourced activities. 

 

The Group also recognises the importance of retaining key resources in order to operate effectively.  

 

The Group operates such measures of risk identification, assessment, monitoring and management as are 

necessary to ensure that operational risk management is consistent with the approach, aims and strategic 

goals of the Group and is designed to safeguard the Group's assets while allowing the Group to earn a 

satisfactory return for shareholders and policyholders.     

 

The Group has taken steps to minimise the impact of external physical events, which would interrupt normal 

business, for example an inability to access or trade from the premises. A disaster recovery plan is in place for 

workspace recovery and retrieval of data and IT systems. These procedures would enable the Group to move 

operations to alternative facilities. 

 

The risk management framework includes the responsibilities of senior management, the requirement for 

reporting of operational risk incidents and the role of internal and external control functions of the Group in 

providing independent assurance. Recognising that operational risk cannot be entirely eliminated, the Group 

implements risk mitigation controls including fraud prevention, contingency planning and incident 

management and reporting. 

 

Litigation Risk 

The Group's business is subject to the risk of litigation by counterparties, policyholders or other third parties 

through private actions, class actions, regulatory actions, criminal proceedings, or other forms of litigation. The 

outcome of any such litigation, proceedings or actions is difficult to assess or quantify. The cost of defending 

such litigation, proceedings or actions may be significant. As a result, such litigation, proceedings, or actions 

may adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition, results, operations, or reputation. The Group 

continues to rigorously defend any legal action that has been taken against it and has engaged the necessary 

legal resources as required.  

 

Strategic Risk 

Strategic risk covers the inherent risk present in the strategy of the entity. The particular strategic risks faced by 

the Group at this time surround the dual challenges of managing the existing business whilst seeking to execute 

transactions to acquire, integrate and manage new acquired life funds. 

 

As part of the strategy to grow through acquisition, the Group is exposed to the risk that it does not complete 

effective due diligence and is then exposed to the financial risks in completing the transaction and managing 

the business. All acquisitions are subject to detailed due diligence supported by independent professional 

subject matter experts and are then subject to scrutiny and approved by the Board. 

 

In addition, the Group is exposed to the risk of failing to integrate and successfully restructure the businesses it 

has acquired. The process of integration, restructuring and managing the combined businesses poses 

particular challenges and is subject to focus at the highest level involving the entire management team. As 

some of the existing businesses continues to run-off as planned, the capacity of the organisation and 

management team is available to ensure full oversight. 
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

Taxation Risk 

Taxation risk is the risk associated with changes in tax law or in the interpretation of tax law. It also includes the 

risk of changes in tax rates and the risk of failure to comply with procedures required by tax authorities. Failure 

to manage tax risk effectively could lead to additional tax charges. It could also lead to financial penalties for 

failure to comply with required tax procedures or other aspects of tax law. The Group is subject to the 

application and interpretation of tax laws in all countries in which it operates and/ or it has invested into. 

Providing sufficient cash flows are available, tax liabilities arising from unit-linked investments, are in general 

met through a reduction in the related liability to policyholders under investment contracts. The Group has 

internal tax resources and external tax advisors. Notwithstanding the use of both internal and external taxation 

advice, tax authorities could take a contrasting view on the interpretation of certain aspects of tax law to that 

of the Group and its advisors. If the costs associated with the resolution of tax matters are greater than 

anticipated, it could negatively affect the financial position of the Group. 

 

Governance & Regulatory Compliance Risk 

Governance covers the overall oversight and control mechanisms, which a firm has in place to ensure it is 

soundly and prudently managed. Regulatory compliance risk primarily arises from a failure or inability to 

comply fully with the laws, regulations, standards, or codes applicable specifically to regulated entities in the 

financial services industry. Any non-compliance may result in the Group being subject to regulatory sanctions, 

material financial loss and/or loss of reputation. Changes in legislation or regulatory interpretation applying to 

the life assurance industry may adversely affect the Group's capital requirements and, consequently, reported 

results and financing requirements. 

  

 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the value of an investment or portfolio decreases as a result of changes in, inter alia, 

equity prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and/or commodity prices. 

 

The extent of the exposure to market risk is managed by the respective Investment Committees in the 

subsidiary operating companies and via compliance with the respective investment policies incorporating 

defined limits and guidelines. Both the operational compliance and the risk appetite are actively managed 

through the Investment Committees.  

 

Concentration risk is one factor considered to ensure there is no loss arising from overdependence on a single 

asset class or category of business (see Credit Risk note). 

 

 

Unit-Linked Funds 

Assets held on behalf of policyholders are subject to market risk, including price and foreign exchange 

risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and funding risk. Any change in the value of these assets are offset by a 

corresponding change in the value of investment contract liabilities. The Group's exposure to market 

risk on unit linked funds is limited to the extent that income arising from asset management charges in 

certain funds, and its ability to collect that income, is based on the cash flows arising and the value of 

the assets in the fund, and to changes in the value of any units in funds the Group may hold. In many 

funds, the asset management charge is based on the higher of premiums paid or fund value, further 

limiting this risk.  

 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Group holds assets, on behalf of policyholders, which are exposed to interest rate movements. Any 

change in the value of these assets is offset by a corresponding change in the value of investment 

contract liabilities.  
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

For unitised with-profit business, some element of investment mismatching is permitted where it is 

consistent with the principles of treating customers fairly. In practice, the Group maintains an 

appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate income securities per the underlying insurance or investment 

contracts and reviews this at regular intervals to ensure that overall exposure is kept within the agreed 

risk profile. This also requires the maturity profile of these assets to be managed in line with the liabilities 

to policyholders. 

 

The following table shows a summary of the sensitivity analysis carried out on key risks including interest 

rate risk for the Group; 

 

  Impact on Net Assets 2022 

  €’000 

Interest Rates +100 bps  1,375 

Interest Rates -100 bps  (1,797) 

Expenses  +10%  (2,487) 

Mass Lapse  20%  5,644 
 

  

   

   

   

 

The following interest rate sensitivities analysis was completed for the 2021 accounts. 

 

 

  Impact on Net Assets 2021 

  €’000 

Interest Rates +100 bps  (41) 

Interest Rates -100 bps  (2,855) 

Expenses  +10%  (3,175) 

Mass Lapse  20%  12,742 
 

  

 

 

 

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Group holds assets, on behalf of policyholders, which are exposed to currency movements. Any 

change in the value of these assets is offset by a corresponding change in the value of investment 

contract liabilities. The Group also has exposure to currency movements as a portion of its shareholder 

assets are invested in currencies other than euro. The Group also has exposure to currency risk in relation 

to a GBP loan with Utmost International Group Holdings Limited. 
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

The Group's principal exposure to liquidity risk arises in relation to the sale of illiquid assets required to meet 

liabilities in the event of the death of a policyholder. The Group may be obliged to purchase illiquid assets 

from a unit-linked fund in order to provide cash benefits to a policyholder's estate. With the exception of 

certain pension business, the Group has reserved the right to defer payment of death benefits from closed 

funds until there is sufficient liquidity in the fund to allow for an orderly realisation of cash. 

 

The Group is required to pay certain taxes and levies to the Revenue Commissioners on behalf of policyholders. 

Where policyholder investments are held in property structures with insufficient liquidity then the Group may 

be required to meet these various tax obligations out of its own resources with the Group acquiring investment 

units in exchange or until such time as there is sufficient cash available from the related policyholder 

investments to refund the Group. 

 

The following tables below set out the liquidity risk exposure of the Company’s assets as at 31 December 2022: 

 

 

Assets 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 

 Within 1 

Year 

1-5 years  Over 5 

years 

No fixed 

contractual 

maturity 

Unit-linked 

funds 

Total 

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

Financial Assets 46,238 27,326 8,894 68,906 21,421,378 21,572,742 

Cash at bank  85,712 - - - 2,047,039 2,132,751 

Insurance debtors and other assets 125,192 42,523 106,355 341,411 - 615,481 

Italian Withholding tax asset - 123,015 - - - 123,015 

Other assets ( AVIF, DAC, Fixed assets) - - - 244,316 - 244,316 

Total 257,142 192,864 115,249 654,633 23,468,417 24,688,305 

 

 

 The tables below set out comparative risk data as at 31 December 2021: 

 

Assets 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021  

 Within 1 

Year 

1-5 years  Over 5 

years 

No fixed 

contractual 

maturity 

Unit-linked 

funds 

Total  

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000  

Financial Assets 76,399 59,366 12,331 84,043 23,362,422 23,594,561  

Cash at bank  77,144 - - - 1,924,077 2,001,221  

Insurance debtors and other assets 50,744 67,648 150,439 438,798 - 707,629  

Italian Withholding tax asset - 108,900 20,560 - - 129,460  

Other assets ( AVIF, DAC, Fixed assets) - - - 273,636 - 273,636  

Total 204,287 235,914 183,330 796,477 25,286,499 26,706,507  

 

 

Insurance risk 

Insurance risk refers to the risk that the frequency or severity of insured events may be worse than expected 

and includes expense risk.  The Group’s contracts include the following sources of insurance risk: 

 

 Mortality – Higher than expected death claims on assurance products; 

 Expenses – Policies cost more to administer than expected; 
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

 Lapses – An adverse movement in ether surrender rates or persistency rates on policies with 

guaranteed benefits leading to losses.  This includes the risk of greater than expected policyholder 

option exercise rates giving rise to increased claims costs 

 

 

Objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk 

 

The Group uses several methods to assess and monitor insurance risk exposures both for individual types of risks 

insured and overall risks. These methods include internal risk measurement models, experience analyses, 

external data comparisons, sensitivity analyses, scenario analyses and stress testing. In addition to this, 

mortality, longevity, and morbidity risks are in certain circumstances mitigated by the use of reinsurance. 

 

The profitability of the run-off of the Group’s closed long-term insurance businesses depends to a significant 

extent on the values of claims paid in the future relative to the assets accumulated to the date of claim. 

Typically, over the lifetime of a contract, premiums and investment returns exceed claim costs in the early 

years and it is necessary to set aside these amounts to meet future obligations. The amount of such future 

obligations is assessed on actuarial principles by reference to assumptions about the development of financial 

and insurance risks.  

 

It is therefore necessary for the Board to make decisions, based on actuarial advice, which ensure an 

appropriate accumulation of assets relative to liabilities. These decisions include investment policy, bonus 

policy and, where discretion exists, the level of payments on early termination. 

 

Assumptions 

Valuation of insurance contracts 

Non-linked, non-profit term assurances are valued using the gross premium method. For unitised with-profit 

contracts, the number of units allocated to the contract is multiplied by the bid price and then reduced by 

Market Value Adjustment factors, where appropriate and permissible under policy conditions, in order to give 

a liability which represents a fair assessment of the surrender value according to the Board’s interpretation of 

policyholder reasonable expectations. Linked contracts are valued individually, with the number of units 

allocated to the contract being multiplied by the valuation price for the corresponding internal linked fund. 

 

Cash flow calculations have been made individually for each linked contract. Positive reserves have been set 

up, where appropriate, to cover future mortality and/or expense strain. Additional unit reserves exist to cover 

the cost of future loyalty bonuses on certain products. The overall unit and reserve for each contract is always 

at least equal to the surrender value, subject to a minimum of zero. 

 

Demographic assumptions are derived by adding a prudent margin to best estimate assumptions.  They are 

determined after considering the Group’s recent experience and/or relevant industry data. Economic 

assumptions are prudent estimates of the returns expected to be achieved on the assets backing the liabilities. 

 

During the financial year, a number of changes were made to assumptions to reflect changes in expected 

experience.  None of the changes had any material impact.  

 

Valuation interest rate 

The method used to determine valuation interest rates generally follows the regulations set out in Annex IV of 

the European Communities (Life Assurance) Framework Regulations, 1994. 

 

Assets are firstly hypothecated to classes of business being valued.  The valuation interest rates for each block 

of business are based on the expected returns of the hypothecated assets. The yield is then adjusted to make 

allowance for credit risk, liquidity risk, re investment risk and investment management expenses. 
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

Mortality and longevity rates 

Mortality rates are based on published tables, adjusted appropriately to take account of changes in the 

underlying population mortality since the table was published, Company experience and forecast changes 

in future mortality.  

 

 

Where appropriate, a margin is added to assurance mortality rates to allow for adverse future deviations.  

Annuitant mortality rates are adjusted to make allowance for future improvements in pensioner longevity. 

 

Lapse rates 

The assumed rates for surrender and voluntary premium discontinuance in the participating business depend 

primarily on the length of time a policy is in force.  Withdrawal rates used in the valuation of unitised with-profit 

policies are based on observed experience and adjusted when it is considered that future policyholder 

behaviour will be influenced by different considerations than in the past.  In particular, it is assumed that 

withdrawal rates for unitised with-profit contracts will be higher on policy anniversaries on which Market Value 

Adjustments do not apply. 

 

 

Policyholder options and guarantees 

Some of the Group’s products give potentially valuable guarantees, or give options to change policy benefits 

which can be exercised at the policyholders’ discretion. These products are described below. 

 

Most unitised with-profit contracts give a guaranteed minimum payment on death. Some with-profit bonds 

pay a guaranteed minimum surrender value, expressed as a percentage of the original premium, on a 

specified anniversary or anniversaries of commencement. Annual bonuses when added to unitised with-profit 

contracts usually increase the guaranteed amount. 

 

Discretionary participating bonus rate 

The regular bonus rates are determined by the Board in accordance with established procedures. Final 

bonuses are declared by the Board with the aim that payments at maturity or on surrender will equal the value 

of asset shares subject to smoothing. 

 

Unitised with-profit deferred annuities participate in profits only up to the date of retirement. 

 

Managing product risk 

The following sections give an assessment of the risks associated with the Group’s main life assurance products 

and the ways in which the Company manages those risks. 

 

With-profit business (Unitised) 

The Company operates a number of unitised with-profits funds in which the unitised with-profit policyholders 

benefit from a discretionary annual bonus (guaranteed once added in most cases) and a discretionary final 

bonus.   

 

The investment strategy of each unitised fund differs, but is broadly to invest in a mixture of fixed and variable 

rate income securities and equities in such proportions as is appropriate to the investment risk exposure of the 

fund and its capital resources. 

 

The bonuses are designed to distribute to policyholders a fair share of the return on the assets in the with-profit 

funds together with other elements of the experience of the fund.  The shareholders are entitled to receive a 

percentage of the cost of bonuses declared. 
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

Unitised with-profit policies purchase notional units in a unitised with-profit fund. Benefit payments for unitised 

policies are then dependent on unit prices at the time of a claim, although charges may be applied. A unitised  

 

 

with-profit fund price is guaranteed not to fall and increases in line with any discretionary annual bonus 

payments over the course of one year. 

 

 

Protection 

These contracts are typically secured by the payment of a regular premium payable for a period of years 

providing benefits payable on certain events occurring within the period.  The benefits may be a single lump 

sum or a series of payments and may be payable on death, serious illness or sickness. 

 

The main risk associated with this product is the claims experience and this risk is managed through the initial 

pricing of the policy (based on actuarial principles), the use of reinsurance and a clear process for 

administering claims. 

 

Credit Risk 

Credit Risk is the risk of loss in the value of financial assets due to counterparties failing to meet all or part of 

their obligations. The Group has low tolerance for any credit risk exposure and maintains its assets in institutions 

and instruments with strong credit ratings. 

Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Investment guidelines are subject to approval by the Investment Committee and Board of Directors. 

There are two principal sources of credit risk for the Company: 

 Credit risk which results from direct investment activities, including investments in fixed and variable 

rate income securities, derivatives, collective investment schemes, hedge funds and the placing of 

cash deposits; and  

 Credit risk, which results indirectly from activities undertaken in the normal course of business. Such 

activities include premium payments, outsourcing contracts and reinsurance. 

 

Credit risk is managed by the monitoring of Group exposures to individual counterparties and by appropriate 

credit risk diversification.  The Group manages the level of credit risk it accepts through credit risk tolerances. 

In certain cases, protection against exposure to particular credit risk types may be achieved through use of 

derivatives.  The credit risk borne by the owners on unitised with-profit policies is dependent on the extent to 

which the underlying insurance fund is relying on owners’ support. 

 

Credit risk concentrations 

Concentration of credit risk might exist where the Group has significant exposure to an individual counterparty 

or a group of counterparties with similar economic characteristics that would cause their ability to meet 

contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic and other conditions.   

 

The Group is also exposed to concentration risk with outsourced service providers.  This is due to the nature of 

the outsourced services market.  The Group operates a policy to manage outsourcer service counterparty 

exposures and the impact from default is reviewed regularly by executive committees and measured through 

stress and scenario testing. 

 

Reinsurance 

The Group is exposed to credit risk as a result of insurance risk transfer contracts with reinsurers. This also gives 

rise to concentration of risk with individual reinsurers, due to the nature of the reinsurance market and the 

restricted range of reinsurers that have acceptable credit ratings.  
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27.   Risk management note (continued) 

 

The following table provides a maturity analysis showing the remaining contractual maturities of the Group's 

undiscounted financial liabilities and associated interest. The contractual maturities of liabilities under 

insurance contracts are included based on the estimated timing of the amounts recognised in the statement 

of financial position in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 4: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31 December 2022     

 

 

       

 
Up to  

1 year 

1 to 5 

years 

Greater than 5 

years  Policyholder 

No 

Contractual 

Maturity Total 

 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

Insurance contract liabilities 45,800 76,925 111,372 487,234 - 721,331 

Investment contract liabilities - - - 23,377,790 - 23,377,790 

Financial liabilities - - 100,506 - - 100,506 

Unallocated Surplus 26,512 - - - - 26,512 

Other liabilities 205,563 - 7,234 - - 212,797 

 277,875 76,925 219,112 23,865,024 - 24,438,936 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

31 December 2021     

 

 

       

 
Up to  

1 year 

1 to 5 

years 

Greater than 5 

years  Policyholder 

No 

Contractual 

Maturity Total 

 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

Insurance contract liabilities 64,110 73,999 109,429 598,837 - 846,375 

Investment contract liabilities - - - 25,157,671 - 25,157,671 

Financial liabilities - - 142,657 - - 142,657 

Unallocated Surplus - - - 36,933 - 36,933 

Other liabilities 261,243 - 8,136 - - 269,379 

 325,353 73,999 260,222 25,793,441 - 26,453,015 
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28. Fair value disclosures 

 

 

Fair value, as defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, is the price that would be received to sell an asset 

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

In accordance with IFRS 13, the Group has applied the fair value hierarchy classification to all assets and 

liabilities measured at fair value. This requires the Group to classify such assets and liabilities according to a 

hierarchy based on the significance of the inputs used to arrive at the overall fair value of these instruments: 

 

- Level 1: Fair value measurements derived from quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities. 

- Level 2: Fair value measurements derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 

that are observable for the asset of liability, either directly or indirectly. 

- Level 3: Includes valuations for assets that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs) or where only stale prices are available. 

 

The Group’s financial investments comprise debt securities, investments funds and investments in subsidiaries.  

At each reporting date, the Group reviews its financial investments and classifies them in accordance with 

IFRS 13. If the Group considers that there is a change in measurement basis due to a change in inputs, it will 

reclassify the relevant financial investment to the appropriate level and separately disclose this transfer.  There 

were no changes in valuation techniques during the year. 

 

Similarly, for investments for the benefit of investment contract holders, the Group reviews these investments 

at each year end and classifies them according to IFRS13.  If the Group considers that there is a change in 

measurement basis due to a change in inputs, it will reclassify the relevant financial investment to the 

appropriate level and separately disclose this transfer. There were no changes in valuation techniques during 

the year. 

 

Level 2 investments consist of investment funds, derivatives and other structured products.  These are fair 

valued, by the Group, using valuations received from Morningstar for investment funds and structured 

products and from custodians for derivatives.   

 

A number of investments for the benefit of investment contract holders who bear the investment risk have 

been classified as Level 3 as they typically consist of unlisted or private securities and the Group relies on 

unobservable inputs for these assets. The value of assets for which significant unobservable inputs were present 

in 2022 amounted to €272,297,000 (2021: €286,343,000) and typically consisted of unaudited financial 

statements or valuations provided by a third party administrator. Movements in investments with Level 3 inputs, 

during the year are disclosed below. 

 

Due to the nature of the Level 3 investments, the Company does not consider that there are any 

interrelationships between significant unobservable inputs and other unobservable inputs used in the fair value 

measurement.  In addition, the Company does not consider that there are any significant sensitivities to the 

fair value of the Level 3 investments should there be a change in the unobservable inputs. 

 

The following table sets out the carrying amount and fair value of assets and liabilities measured at fair value 

across the three levels of the hierarchy as at 31 December 2022. 
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28. Fair value disclosures (continued) 

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 

 Carrying amounts   Fair value hierarchy 

 Total  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

ASSETS € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

       
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss       

- Debt securities 35,393  35,393 - - 35,393 

- Investment funds 106,743  - 106,743 - 106,743 

- Unit-Linked 23,468,417  9,486,290 13,709,819 272,308 23,468,417 

       

 23,610,553 
 

9,521,683 13,816,562 272,308 23,610,553 

       
Debt securities  9,227  9,227 - - 9,227 

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23,619,780  9,530,910 13,816,562 272,308 23,619,780 

       

LIABILITIES       

Liabilities to customers under investment contracts               (23,377,790)  - (23,377,790) - (23,377,790) 

       
TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE (23,377,790)  - (23,377,790) - (23,377,790) 
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28. Fair value disclosures (continued) 

COMPANY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Carrying amounts   Fair value hierarchy 

 Total  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

ASSETS € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

       
Deposits with banks 230  - 230 - 230 

Other Assets -  - - - - 

       

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 230  - 230 - 230 

       

LIABILITIES       

       

Other liabilities (2,475)  - (2,475) - (2,475) 

       

       
TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE (2,475)  - (2,475) - (2,475) 
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28. Fair value disclosures (continued) 

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 

 Carrying amounts   Fair value hierarchy 

 Total  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

ASSETS € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

       
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss       

- Debt securities 90,972  90,972 - - 90,972 

- Investment funds 130,023  - 129,782 241 130,023 

- Unit-Linked 25,286,500  12,687,911 12,312,246 286,343 25,286,500 

       
 25,507,495  12,778,883 12,442,028 286,584 25,507,495 

       
Debt securities  11,143  11,143 - - 11,143 

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 25,518,638  12,790,026 12,442,028 286,584 25,518,638 

       

LIABILITIES       

Liabilities to customers under investment contracts               (25,157,670)  - (25,157,670) - (25,157,670) 

       
TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE (25,157,670)  - (25,157,670) - (25,157,670) 
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29. Fair value disclosures (continued) 

COMPANY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 

 

 

 Carrying amounts   Fair value hierarchy 

 Total  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

ASSETS € ‘000  € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

       
Deposits with banks 1,833  - 1,833 - 1,833 

Deferred tax asset 62  - 62 - 62 

       

TOTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 1,895  - 1,895 - 1,895 

       

LIABILITIES       

       

       

       
TOTAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE -  - - - - 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

The Group discloses its financial assets at fair value through profit and loss under the following classes -

investment in property structures, equity shares, debt securities, derivatives, fixed and variable rate income 

securities, collective investment schemes and loans and deposits. 

 

Investments in property structures 

The fair values of investments in property structures were derived from inputs comprising at least one 

unobservable input and therefore have been classified as Level 3. 

 

Equity shares 

The fair values of equity shares have been determined using quoted market prices in active markets. In cases 

where the Company had no control over the pricing of the assets and oversight over the inputs used to 

calculate fair value or where only stale prices were available, the assets' fair values were categorised as Level 

3. 

 

Fixed and variable rate income securities 

The fair value of available for fixed and variable rate income securities is determined using bid prices and 

have been categorised as level 1. 

 

Collective investment schemes 

The fair value of available for collective investment schemes is determined using bid prices and have been 

categorised as level 1. Where published bid prices are not available and the fair value is estimated using 

pricing models based on market related data or discounted cash flow techniques, the collective investment 

schemes are classified as level 2. 

 

Derivative financial instruments 

Fair values of derivative financial instruments are typically estimated using industry standard valuation 

techniques incorporating inputs that are derived from observable market data and therefore are classified as 

Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Loans and deposits 

The fair value of loans and deposits where published bid prices are not available are estimated using 

discounted cash flow techniques. Estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates 

and the discount rate used is a market related rate for a similar instrument. 

 

Deposits with banks 

The fair value of overnight placements or call accounts is their carrying amount. 

 

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy 

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the financial 

year. 
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Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 

A reconciliation of the opening to closing balances in Level 3 fair value hierarchy is shown in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Consolidated 

 

 

Financial assets 

held at fair value 

through profit 

and loss 

€ '000 

Investment 

property 

€ '000  

Total 

€ '000 

Balance at 1 January 2022  286,584 - 286,584 

Additions on subsidiary acquisition   - - - 

Transfers into Level 3  - - - 

Transfers out of level 3  (730) - (730) 

     
Total gains or losses: -     

- in profit or loss  - - - 

- in liabilities to policyholders  (10,475) - (10,475) 

     
Additions  - - - 

Disposals/Transfers to third parties  (3,071) - (3,071) 

Balance at 31 December 2022  272,308 - 272,308 
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29.  Related party transactions 

Transactions with group companies 

The Group undertakes transactions with related parties in the normal course of business. These are at arm’s 

length on normal commercial terms and typically include management services recharges, loan and interest 

repayments and some expense and salary recharges. 

 

The transactions below are representative of intercompany transactions that took place during the financial 

year.  

 

 

*Not consolidated as part of these accounts 

 

 

USIL provides policy administration and other management services to life assurance entities within the UHIL 

Group. Management Service agreements are in place with details of the charging structure between the 

entities. USIL also recharges UPE for Non-Executive Directors fees.  

 

Transactions with key management personnel 

The following disclosures are in accordance with the provisions of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, in respect 

of the compensation of Key Management Personnel. Under IAS 24, Key Management personnel are defined 

as comprising Executive and Non-Executive Directors together with Senior Executive Officers. Key 

management expenses continue to be paid through USIL. 

  

 2022 2021 

 €’000 €’000 

Short-term employee benefits 

 

2,645,739 2,400,937 

Post-employment benefits 

 

170,675 167,997 

Non- executive directors’ emoluments 

 

188,813 204,390 

 3,005,227 2,773,324 

 

 

Income 

earned 

Expenses 

incurred 

Payable at  

year end 

Receivable at  

year end 

 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 € ‘000 

Utmost Services Ireland Limited 38,362 (1,506) (22) 834 

Utmost Holdings Ireland Limited 80 (4,605) (80,205) - 

Utmost PanEurope dac 249 (43,708) (27,098) 16,013 

Utmost Bermuda Limited - (92) - - 

Utmost Services Limited* 3,280 (789) (124) 1,706 

Utmost Administration Limited* 726 - - 55 

Utmost International Group Holdings Limited* 5,018 (623) (57) 80,205 

Utmost Worldwide Limited* 1,359 (4,476) (9,943) 71 

Utmost Limited* 1,181 - - - 

Utmost International Isle of Man Limited* - - (6,070) 22,747 

Utmost Holdings (No 4) Ltd 380 - - 169 

Utmost Switzerland GMBH 107 - - 21 

Utmost International Business Services Limited  5,057 - - 1,702 

Utmost L&P - - (4) - 

     
Total 55,799 (55,799) (123,523) 123,523 
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The Directors and Secretary had no direct interests in the shares of the Company during the year. Two Directors 

Paul Thompson and Ian Maidens have an equity interest in certain parent company entities. (See note 32). 

 

 

30. Immediate parent and ultimate controlling party 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Utmost Topco Limited. The Company’s immediate parent is 

Utmost International Group Holdings limited.  

 

The ultimate parent Company which maintains a majority controlling interest in the group is recognised by the 

directors as OCM Utmost Holdings Limited, a Cayman incorporated entity. OCM Utmost Holdings Limited is an 

investment vehicle owned by funds which are ultimately controlled by Oaktree Capital Group LLC. 

 

31. Provisions, contingent liabilities, and commitments 

 

In the normal course of the Group’s business, litigation and disputes arise from time to time. The Group has a 

policy of active management and rigorous defence of legal claims and there are procedures in place to 

ensure oversight by the Board of Directors. 

 

 

32. Directors’ and Secretary’s interests 

 

At 31 December 2022 the Directors and secretary in office, and their spouses and minor children, had no 

beneficial interests in the shares of the Company. The Directors' interests in the parent and group entities as at 

31 December 2022 and as at 31 December 2021 are detailed below: 

       Number of shares 

2022 Paul Thompson Ian Maidens 

Utmost Topco Limited                           C ordinary shares                                                              2,530       2,530 

Utmost Topco Limited                           D ordinary shares                                                              5,000  5,000 

Utmost Topco Limited                            S ordinary shares  50 50 

Utmost Topco Limited                    8% Preference shares  19,667,733 19,667,733 

Number of shares 

2021 Paul Thompson Ian Maidens 

Utmost Topco Limited                          C ordinary shares  2,530 2,530 

Utmost Topco Limited                          D ordinary shares  5,000 5,000 

Utmost Topco Limited                           S ordinary shares  50 50 

Utmost Topco Limited                   8% Preference shares  30,177,615 30,177,615 

 

 

 

 

33. Approval of financial statements 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2023. 


	UHIL FS opinion 311222 signed.pdf
	Page 1
	Page 3
	Page 5

	UHIL Fin Statements 2022 Final - part signed.pdf
	UHIL Fin Statements 2022 Final
	UHIL Annual Report no 2
	UHIL Fin Statements 2022 Final
	UHIL Annual Report no 2
	UHIL Fin Statements 2022 Final




